#### UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM F-3
REGISTRATION STATEMENT
UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

#### ARDAGH METAL PACKAGING S.A.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Luxembourg (Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) Not Applicable (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

56, rue Charles Martel
L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg
+352 26 25 85 55
(Address and telephone number of Registrant's principal executive offices)

Ardagh Metal Packaging USA Corp.
8770 W. Bryn Mawr Avenue
Chicago, IL 60631
United States
(773)-399-3000
(Name, address, and telephone number of agent for service)

Copies to:
Richard Alsop, Esq.
Lara Aryani, Esq.
Alain Dermarkar, Esq.
Erika Kent, Esq.
Clare O'Brien, Esq.
Allen Overy Shearman Sterling US LLP
599 Lexington Avenue
New York, N.Y. 10022
(212) 848-4000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of this registration statement.

If only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box.  $\boxtimes$  If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  $\square$ 

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.C. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.C. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933.

Emerging growth company. 

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards† provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act.

The term "new or revised financial accounting standard" refers to any update issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board to its Accounting Standards Codification after April 5, 2012.

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act, or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., a public limited liability company (société anonyme) incorporated and existing under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, having its registered office at 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg and registered with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies (R.C.S. Luxembourg) under number B 251465 (the "Company" or "AMPSA"), filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on August 8, 2022 a post-effective amendment to Form F-1 on Form F-3 (File No. 333-258749), which was declared effective by the SEC on August 11, 2022 (the "Prior Registration Statement").

The Prior Registration Statement registered 16,749,984 ordinary shares of the Company, with a nominal value of €0.01 per share (the "Ordinary Shares") that may be issued upon exercise of warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, each exercisable for one Ordinary Share at an exercise price of \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustments (the "Warrants"), and the offer and sale from time to time by the selling securityholders named therein, or their permitted transferees, of up to 496,275,894 Ordinary Shares and 5,626,305 Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares. As of the date of the filing of this registration statement, (i) 16,749,984 Ordinary Shares that may be issued upon exercise of the Warrants (the "Unsold Primary Securities"); and (ii)(a) 461,286,233 Ordinary Shares and (b) 3,545,210 Warrants (the "Unsold Secondary Securities" and, together with the Unsold Primary Securities, the "Unsold Securities"), in each case registered under the Prior Registration Statement remained unsold and continue to be entitled to registration. This registration statement registers the Unsold Securities registered for resale by the selling securityholders named herein (the "Selling Securityholders").

Pursuant to Rule 415(a)(5) under the Securities Act, to the extent applicable, the Company and the selling securityholders named therein intend to continue to offer and sell the Unsold Securities under the Prior Registration Statement until the earlier of (i) the date on which this registration statement is declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission; and (ii) February 7, 2026, which is 180 days after the third-year anniversary of the effective date of the Prior Registration Statement (such earlier date, the "Expiration Date"). Until the Expiration Date, the Company and such selling securityholders may continue to use the Prior Registration Statement and related prospectus supplements for offerings thereunder.

Pursuant to Rule 415(a)(6), on or before the Expiration Date, the Company may file a pre-effective amendment to this registration statement to update the amount of Unsold Securities previously registered by the Prior Registration Statement being registered hereby, and the Company and the Selling Securityholders may continue to offer and sell such Unsold Securities under this registration statement. If applicable, such pre-effective amendment shall identify such Unsold Securities to be included in this registration statement, and the amount of any new securities to be registered on this registration statement.

Subject to Completion, dated July 31, 2025

#### PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS

#### 16,749,984 ORDINARY SHARES OFFERED BY ARDAGH METAL PACKAGING S.A.

# 461,286,233 ORDINARY SHARES and 3,545,210 WARRANTS OFFERED BY THE SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS

This prospectus relates to the issuance by us of up to 16,749,984 Ordinary Shares that may be issued upon exercise of Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, which were originally GHV Warrants that were automatically converted into Warrants upon consummation of the merger of Ardagh MP MergeCo Inc. ("MergeCo") with and into Gores Holdings V, Inc. ("GHV"), with GHV surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which occurred on August 4, 2021 (the "Merger").

This prospectus also relates to the offer and sale from time to time by the Selling Securityholders, or their permitted transferees, of up to 461,286,233 Ordinary Shares and 3,545,210 Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, which were originally Private Placement Warrants that were automatically converted into Warrants upon consummation of the Merger.

We will receive proceeds from the exercise of the Warrants to the extent the Warrants are exercised for cash. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of Ordinary Shares and Warrants by the Selling Securityholders pursuant to this prospectus. However, we will pay the expenses, other than underwriting commissions and discounts and expenses incurred by the Selling Securityholders for brokerage, accounting, tax or legal services or any other expenses incurred by the Selling Securityholders in disposing of the securities, associated with the sale of Ordinary Shares pursuant to this prospectus.

Our registration of the securities covered by this prospectus does not mean that either we or the Selling Securityholders will issue, offer or sell, as applicable, any of the securities. The Selling Securityholders may offer and sell the securities covered by this prospectus in a number of different ways and at varying prices. We provide more information about how the Selling Securityholders may sell the securities in the section entitled "Plan of Distribution."

The Ordinary Shares and the Warrants are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") under the symbols "AMBP" and "AMBP.WS," respectively. The last reported sale price of the Ordinary Shares was \$3.98 per share on July 30, 2025, and the last reported sale price of the Warrants was \$0.02 per warrant on July 30, 2025.

We are a "controlled company" under NYSE corporate governance rules and are eligible for certain exemptions from these rules. We are also a "foreign private issuer" under applicable SEC rules and are eligible for reduced public company disclosure requirements.

You should read this prospectus and any prospectus supplement or amendment carefully before you invest in our securities. Investing in the Company's securities involves risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 11 of this prospectus and any risk factors described in any applicable prospectus supplement and in our SEC filings that are incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Neither the SEC nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

PROSPECTUS DATED , 2025



#### **Table of Contents**

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA FREQUENTLY USED TERMS PROSPECTUS SUMMARY SUMMARY TERMS OF THE OFFERING CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS RISK FACTORS USE OF PROCEEDS DIVIDEND POLICY CAPITALIZATION DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
PROSPECTUS SUMMARY SUMMARY TERMS OF THE OFFERING CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS RISK FACTORS USE OF PROCEEDS DIVIDEND POLICY CAPITALIZATION DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
SUMMARY TERMS OF THE OFFERING CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS RISK FACTORS USE OF PROCEEDS DIVIDEND POLICY CAPITALIZATION DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS RISK FACTORS USE OF PROCEEDS DIVIDEND POLICY CAPITALIZATION DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
RISK FACTORS USE OF PROCEEDS DIVIDEND POLICY CAPITALIZATION DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
USE OF PROCEEDS DIVIDEND POLICY CAPITALIZATION DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
DIVIDEND POLICY CAPITALIZATION DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
CAPITALIZATION  DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS
MATERIAL LUXEMBOURG TAX CONSIDERATIONS
MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
EXPENSES RELATED TO THE OFFERING
LEGAL MATTERS
INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL
EXPERTS
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE
PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

i

#### ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus, any amendment or supplement to this prospectus, including information incorporated by reference herein or therein, or any free writing prospectus prepared by or on our behalf. Any amendment or supplement may also add, update or change information included in this prospectus. Any statement contained in this prospectus will be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in such amendment or supplement modifies or supersedes such statement. Any statement so modified will be deemed to constitute a part of this prospectus only as so modified, and any statement so superseded will be deemed not to constitute a part of this prospectus. See "Where You Can Find More Information" and "Incorporation of Certain Documents By Reference."

Neither we nor the Selling Securityholders have authorized any other person to provide you with different or additional information. Neither we nor the Selling Securityholders take responsibility for, nor can we provide assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may provide. The information contained in this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement or any document incorporated by reference in this prospectus is accurate only as of their respective dates or as of the dates stated therein, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement or the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects may have changed since those dates. This prospectus contains summaries of certain provisions contained in some of the documents described in this prospectus, but reference is made to the actual documents for complete information. All of the summaries are qualified in their entirety by the actual documents. Copies of some of the documents referred to in this prospectus have been filed, will be filed or will be incorporated by reference as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, and you may obtain copies of those documents as described under "Where You Can Find More Information"

Neither we nor the Selling Securityholders are making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. Except as otherwise set forth in this prospectus, neither we nor the Selling Securityholders have taken any action to permit a public offering of these securities outside the United States or to permit the possession or distribution of this prospectus outside the United States. Persons outside the United States who come into possession of this prospectus must inform themselves about and observe any restrictions relating to the offering of these securities and the distribution of this prospectus outside the United States.

#### MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Any third-party information included in this prospectus or any document incorporated by reference in this prospectus has been accurately reproduced and, as far as AMPSA is aware and is able to ascertain from the information published by such third parties, the reproduced information is accurate and no facts have been omitted which would render such information inaccurate or misleading. While AMPSA believes such information is reliable, it has not independently verified any third-party information.

#### FREQUENTLY USED TERMS

Unless otherwise stated or unless the context otherwise requires, references to "we," "our," "us," the "Company" or "AMPSA" generally refer to Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

In this document:

"AGSA" means Ardagh Group S.A., a public limited liability company (*société anonyme*) incorporated and existing under the laws of Luxembourg, having its registered office at 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg, registered with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies (R.C.S. Luxembourg) under number B 160804.

"Ardagh Group" means AGSA and its consolidated subsidiaries, except where the context requires otherwise.

"Ardagh Group Green Financing Framework" means the framework developed by the Ardagh Group aimed to attract funding towards initiatives that lower the Ardagh Group's carbon footprint and increase the Ardagh Group's investment in green and sustainable projects.

"Articles" means the articles of association of AMPSA, as amended from time to time.

"Board" means the board of directors of the Company.

"Bradesco Facility" means the Company's credit facility with Banco Bradesco S.A. in Brazil entered into on October 7, 2024.

"Business Combination" means the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement.

"Business Combination Agreement" means the Business Combination Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2021, as amended from time to time, by and among GHV, AMPSA, AGSA and MergeCo, which is filed as Exhibits 2.1 and 2.2 to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

"Code" means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Exchange Act" means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"GHV" means to Gores Holdings V, Inc., a Delaware corporation, which, following the Merger, was renamed to "Ardagh MP USA Inc." and has since been dissolved.

"GHV Sponsor" means Gores Sponsor V LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

"GHV Units" means the 52,500,000 units issued in connection with the IPO, each of which consisted of one share of GHV Class A common stock and one-fifth of one Public Warrant, whereby each whole Public Warrant entitled the holder thereof to purchase one share of GHV Class A common stock at an exercise price of \$11.50 per share of GHV Class A common stock.

"GHV Warrants" means the Public Warrants and the Private Placement Warrants.

"Global Asset Based Loan Facility" means the global asset based loan facility entered into by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries on August 6, 2021.

"IPO" means GHV's initial public offering of GHV Units, each of which consisted of one share of GHV Class A common stock and one-fifth of one Public Warrant, whereby each whole Public Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one share of GHV Class A common stock at an exercise price of \$11.50 per share of GHV Class A common

#### Table of Contents

stock, consummated on August 10, 2020, through the sale of 52,500,000 GHV Units (including 5,000,000 units sold pursuant to the underwriters' partial exercise of their over- allotment option), at \$10.00 per unit.

"IRS" means the U.S. Internal Revenue Service.

"Luxembourg Law" means the provisions of the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

"MergeCo" means Ardagh MP MergeCo Inc.

"Merger" means the merger of MergeCo with and into GHV, with GHV surviving the Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of AMPSA, which occurred on August 4, 2021.

"NYSE" means the New York Stock Exchange.

"Ordinary Shares" means ordinary shares of AMPSA, with a nominal value of €0.01 per share.

"PFIC" means a passive foreign investment company.

"Preferred Shares" means the 56,306,306 redeemable non-voting shares in the Company, with a par value of €4.44 per share, and any such shares issued from time to time in the Company.

"Private Placement Warrants" means the warrants to purchase GHV Class A common stock purchased in a private placement in connection with the IPO.

"Public Warrants" means the warrants included in the GHV Units sold in the IPO, each of which was exercisable for one share of GHV Class A common stock, in accordance with its terms.

"Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement" means the registration rights and lock-up agreement, dated as of August 4, 2021, by and among AGSA, AMPSA, GHV Sponsor and certain persons associated with GHV Sponsor, filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Securities Act" means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Services Agreement" means the services agreement, dated as of August 4, 2021, by and between AGSA and AMPSA, related to the provision of certain corporate and business-unit services by AGSA to AMPSA and its subsidiaries and by AMPSA and its subsidiaries to AGSA filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Shell Company Report on Form 20-F filed August 10, 2021 (File No. 001-40709).

"Warrants" means the warrants of AMPSA, each exercisable for one Ordinary Share at an exercise price of \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustments as described in the Warrant Agreement as set forth under "Description of Securities" in this registration statement.

"Warrant Agreement" means the warrant agreement, dated as of August 10, 2020, by and between GHV and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company as warrant agent, filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, as assigned to AMPSA and amended in accordance with a warrant assignment, assumption and amendment agreement (the "Warrant Assignment, Assumption and Amendment Agreement"), dated August 4, 2021, by and among AMPSA, GHV, Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., filed as Exhibit 4.8 to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

"2024 Form 20-F" means our annual report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, filed with the SEC on March 4, 2025.

#### PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. This summary does not contain all of the information you should consider before investing in the Company's securities. Before making an investment decision, you should read this entire prospectus carefully, especially the section entitled "Risk Factors", the financial statements and related notes thereto, the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus and the other documents to which this prospectus refers. Some of the statements in this prospectus constitute forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" for more information. See also the section entitled "Where You Can Find More Information."

#### Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A.

#### Overview

We are one of the leading suppliers of consumer metal beverage cans in the world and believe that we hold the #2 or #3 market positions in Europe (excluding Russia, where we have no presence), the United States and Brazil. The global beverage can industry is a large, consumer-driven industry with attractive growth characteristics. Our end-use categories include beer, carbonated soft drinks, energy drinks, sparkling waters, hard seltzers, juices, pre-mixed cocktails, teas and wine. Our customers include a wide variety of leading beverage products, which value our packaging products for their convenience, quality and sustainability, as well as the end-user appeal they offer through design, innovation and brand promotion. With our significant invested capital base, supported by consistent levels of re-investment, our extensive technical capabilities and manufacturing know-how, we believe we are well-positioned to continue to meet the dynamic needs of our global customers.

#### **Corporate Information**

The Company was incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg on January 20, 2021 as a public limited liability company (*société anonyme*) having its registered office at 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg and registered with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies (*Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés de Luxembourg*) under number B 251465.

The mailing address of the Company's principal executive office is 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg and its telephone number is +352 26 25 85 55. The Company's agent for service in the United States is: Ardagh Metal Packaging USA Corp., 8770 W. Bryn Mawr Avenue, Chicago, IL 60631 (Telephone: +1 (773) 399-3000).

The Company's principal website address is https://ir.ardaghmetalpackaging.com. This website and the information contained therein or connected thereto shall not be deemed to be incorporated into this prospectus.

#### Implications of Being a "Foreign Private Issuer" and a "Controlled Company"

The Company reports under the Exchange Act as a non-U.S. company with foreign private issuer status. As long as we continue to qualify as a foreign private issuer under the Exchange Act, we will be exempt from certain provisions of the Exchange Act that are applicable to U.S. domestic public companies, including:

- the sections of the Exchange Act regulating the solicitation of proxies, consents or authorizations in respect of a security registered under the Exchange Act;
- the sections of the Exchange Act requiring insiders to file public reports of their stock ownership and trading activities and liability for insiders who profit from trades made in a short period of time; and

 the rules under the Exchange Act requiring the filing of quarterly reports with the SEC on Form 10-Q containing unaudited financial and other specified information, or current reports on Form 8-K, upon the occurrence of specified significant events.

In addition, we are not required to file annual reports and financial statements with the SEC as promptly as U.S. domestic companies whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act, and are not required to comply with Regulation FD, which restricts the selective disclosure of material information.

Further, we are exempt from certain corporate governance requirements of NYSE by virtue of being a foreign private issuer. As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted to follow the corporate governance practices of our home country in lieu of certain provisions of the NYSE Standards. Our intention is to voluntarily comply with these requirements, and as a result, there are currently no significant differences under the NYSE Standards between our corporate governance practices and those of U.S. domestic issuers listed on the NYSE.

We also qualify for and avail ourselves of certain of the controlled company exemptions under the NYSE Standards applicable to listed companies (both foreign private issuers and U.S. domestic issuers) as described in the NYSE Listed Company Manual. As a controlled company, we are not required to comply with the following requirements:

- a majority of the Board consist of independent directors;
- the nominating and governance committee be composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee's purpose and responsibilities;
- the compensation committee be composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee's purpose and responsibilities; and
- there be an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and governance and compensation committees.

We currently comply with certain of these requirements on a voluntary basis, and as a result, the majority of our Board consists of independent directors, and we have written charters for and conduct annual performance evaluations of our nominating and governance committee and compensation committee. However, we currently avail ourselves of the exemption that allows our nominating and governance committee and compensation committee not to be composed entirely of independent directors.

There can be no assurance that we will not avail ourselves of other controlled company exemptions or cease voluntary compliance with the requirements we are exempt from due to our status as a foreign private issuer in the future.

#### SUMMARY TERMS OF THE OFFERING

The summary below describes the principal terms of the offering. The "Description of Securities" section of this prospectus contains a more detailed description of the Company's Ordinary Shares and Warrants.

We are registering the issuance by us of up to 16,749,984 Ordinary Shares that may be issued upon exercise of Warrants.

We are also registering the resale by the Selling Securityholders or their permitted transferees of up to 461,286,233 Ordinary Shares and 3.545,210 Warrants.

Any investment in the securities offered hereby involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the information set forth under "Risk Factors" on page 11 of this prospectus.

#### **Issuance of Ordinary Shares**

Ordinary Shares to be issued upon

exercise of all Warrants 16,749,984

Resale of Ordinary Shares and Warrants

Ordinary Shares offered by the Selling

Securityholders 461,286,233

Warrants offered by the Selling

Securityholders 3,545,210

Offering price may be issued upon

The exercise price for the exercise of Warrants is \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustments.

The Ordinary Shares and Warrants offered by the Selling Securityholders under this prospectus may be offered and sold at prevailing market prices, privately negotiated prices or such other prices as the Selling Securityholders may determine. See the section entitled "*Plan of*"

Distribution."

Use of Proceeds We will receive up to an aggregate of \$192,624,816 if all the Warrants are exercised to the

extent such Warrants are exercised for cash. We expect to use the net proceeds from the exercise of the Warrants for general corporate purposes. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale

of the Ordinary Shares and Warrants to be offered by the Selling Securityholders.

Dividend policy We have paid, and intend to continue to pay, an interim dividend on our Ordinary Shares on a

quarterly basis in 2025; however, decisions in relation to our dividend policy are determined by

our Board. See "Dividend Policy."

Market for our securities Our Ordinary Shares and Warrants are listed on the NYSE under the symbols "AMBP" and

"AMBP.WS," respectively.

Risk factors Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. See "Risk Factors" for a description of

certain of the risks you should consider before investing in the Company.

#### CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the documents incorporated herein by reference include statements that are, or may be deemed to be, "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the U.S. federal securities laws, including statements under the heading "Risk Factors," statements of future expectations and other forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "aim," "anticipate," "believe," "continue," "could," "estimate," "expect," "forecast," "future," "guidance," "intend," "may," "opportunity," "plan," "potential," "predict," "projected," "should," "strategy," "suggests," "targets," "will," "will be" or "would" or similar expressions or the negatives thereof, or other variations thereof, or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions. These forward-looking statements include all matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this prospectus and include statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of management concerning, among other things, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the industry in which we operate.

You are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and that actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which the Company operates, may differ materially from those made in or suggested by the forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus. In addition, even if our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which we operate are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus, those results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The development of the industry in which the Company operates may differ materially from (and be more negative than) those made in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus.

These statements are based on management's current views and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially from those anticipated by such statements. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. As a result of the number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, actual results or performance may be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause such differences in actual results include:

- an increase in metal beverage can manufacturing capacity without a corresponding increase in demand;
- competition from other metal packaging producers and alternative forms of packaging;
- concentration of our customers or suppliers, changes in our customers' or suppliers' strategic choices, such as whether to prioritize
  price or volume requirements;
- a significant write-down of goodwill;
- varied seasonal demands for our products and unseasonable weather conditions;
- changes in consumer lifestyle, nutritional preferences, health-related concerns and warnings, health-related drug developments, social media influence and consumer taxation;
- further consolidation of our existing customer base;
- availability and any increase in the costs of raw materials, including as a result of changes in tariffs and duties and our inability to fully pass through input costs;

#### Table of Contents

- stability of energy supply and increase in energy prices, including in Europe as a result of the ongoing Russia-Ukraine war;
- our relationships with our suppliers, including maintenance of existing payment and credit terms, and reliance on their ability to
  make timely deliveries due to factors such as supply chain disruption;
- changes in the economic, political, credit, and/or financial environment in which we operate, which could have a material adverse
  effect on our business, such as reducing demand for our products;
- currency, interest rate and commodity price fluctuations;
- any pandemics or disease outbreaks that may have adverse impacts on worldwide economic activity and our business;
- interruption in the operations of our production facilities including through infrastructure failure caused by physical damage;
- acquisitions, including with respect to successful integration;
- organized strikes or work stoppages by our unionized employees;
- dependence on our executive and senior management, and other highly skilled personnel;
- costs and future funding obligations associated with post-retirement benefits provided to our employees;
- data protection, data breaches, cyberattacks on our IT systems and network disruptions, including the costs and reputational harm associated with such events:
- impact of climate change, both physical and transitional, as well as those associated with the failure to meet our sustainability targets;
- environmental, health and safety concerns, as well as legal, regulatory or other measures to address such concerns and associated costs to us:
- legislation and regulation, including costs of compliance and changes to laws and regulations governing our business;
- workplace injury and illness claims at our production facilities;
- failure of our control measures and systems that result in faulty or contaminated products and potential related reputational risk;
- litigation, arbitration and other proceedings;
- insufficient or prohibitively expensive insurance coverage;
- failure to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal controls over financial reporting;
- our capital structure, including our substantial debt profile, ability to raise new financing or refinance existing financing, and ability to comply with the covenants in our financing agreements;
- risks relating to the Services Agreement;

#### **Table of Contents**

- risks relating to the ownership of our Ordinary Shares, including those associated with the activities of our shareholders and our
  position as a company controlled by AGSA and our status as a Luxembourg company and a foreign private issuer; and
- other risks and uncertainties described or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including those under "Risk Factors."

The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, other than as required by law.

The foregoing factors and others described under the section entitled "Risk Factors", as well as in the 2024 Form 20-F and in other documents that we may file with the SEC should not be construed as exhaustive. There are other factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus. Moreover, new risks emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all such risks. We cannot assess the impact of all risks on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results. The Company urges you to read the section of this prospectus entitled "Risk Factors", as well as the documents incorporated by reference herein and any prospectus supplement for a more complete discussion of the factors that could affect its future performance and the industry in which it operates.

The forward-looking statements are based on plans, estimates and projections as they are currently available to the management of AMPSA, and we do not undertake any obligation nor expect to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or to persons acting on behalf of the Company are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements referred to above and contained elsewhere in this prospectus or incorporated by reference herein.

#### RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Company's securities carries a significant degree of risk. Before you decide to purchase the Company's securities, you should carefully consider all risk factors set forth in any applicable prospectus supplement and the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including the factors discussed under the heading "Risk Factors" in our most recent annual report on Form 20-F or any updates in our current reports on Form 6-K, which may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to time by the other reports we file with the SEC in the future or by information in the applicable prospectus supplement. See "Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference." The risks and uncertainties we have described are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties of which we are not presently aware or that we currently deem immaterial could also affect our business operations and financial condition. If any of these risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects could be materially affected. As a result, the trading price of the Company's securities could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment.

#### USE OF PROCEEDS

We will receive up to an aggregate of \$192,624,816 if all the Warrants are exercised to the extent such Warrants are exercised for cash. We expect to use the net proceeds from the exercise of the Warrants for general corporate purposes. All of the Ordinary Shares and Warrants offered by the Selling Securityholders pursuant to this prospectus will be sold by the Selling Securityholders for their respective amounts. We will not receive any of the proceeds from these sales.

#### DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved an interim dividend of \$0.10 per Ordinary Share on April 22, 2025, which was paid on May 15, 2025 to shareholders of record on May 5, 2025. The Board approved an interim dividend of \$0.10 per Ordinary Share on July 22, 2025, which will be paid on August 19, 2025 to shareholders of record on August 7, 2025. We intend to continue to pay an interim dividend on our Ordinary Shares on a quarterly basis; however, decisions in relation to our dividend policy are ultimately determined by our Board.

We paid an interim dividend on the annual 9% dividend of the Preferred Shares that was approved by the Board on April 22, 2025, which was paid on May 15, 2025. We paid an interim dividend on the annual 9% dividend of the Preferred Shares that was approved by the Board on July 22, 2025, which will be paid on August 19, 2025. Each Preferred Share is entitled to an annual preferred dividend per financial year of the Company amounting to 9% of its nominal value computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months (the "Annual Preferred Share Dividend"). The first pro rata Annual Preferred Share Dividend shall be calculated from the date of issuance of a Preferred Share (with the month of issuance being computed as a full month) until the end of the financial year of the date of issue, and all the subsequent Annual Preferred Share Dividend will be calculated per financial year of the Company. No distributions may be made to the holders of Ordinary Shares during a financial year if there is any Delta or New Delta (each as defined in "Description of Securities — Shares — Preferred Shares"), or unless all the Preferred Shares are redeemed, as described in "Description of Securities — Shares — Preferred Shares." The payment of dividends on the Preferred Shares is at the discretion of our Board.

#### CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of June 30, 2025. The information in this table should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of AMPSA as of and for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2025, including the related notes thereto, included in our report on Form 6-K furnished on July 24, 2025 (Film Number: 251144894) and incorporated by reference in this prospectus, and the audited annual consolidated financial statements of AMPSA as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes thereto, included in the 2024 Form 20-F incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in any future period.

	As of June 30, 2025
	\$'m
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	256
Global Asset Based Loan Facility <sup>(1)</sup>	-
Senior Secured Green Notes <sup>(2)</sup>	1,727
Senior Secured Term Loan	316
Bradesco Facility <sup>(3)</sup>	-
Lease obligations	370
Total secured debt	2,413
Senior Unsecured Green Notes <sup>(4)</sup>	1,636
Other borrowings	36
Total borrowings	4,085
Equity share capital	267
Share premium	5,989
Other reserves	(5,718)
Accumulated Deficit	(864)
Non-controlling interests	8
Total shareholder equity	(318)
Total capitalization	3,767

<sup>(1)</sup> There was \$333 million available under the Global Asset Based Loan Facility as of June 30, 2025. The Global Asset Based Loan Facility is subject to a fixed charge coverage ratio covenant if 90% or more of the facility is drawn. The Global Asset Based Loan Facility matures on April 30, 2027.

<sup>(2)</sup> Consists of €450 million 2.000% Senior Secured Green Notes due 2028, \$600 million 3.250% Senior Secured Green Notes due 2028 and \$600 million 6.000% Senior Secured Green Notes due 2027, issued by certain of AMPSA's subsidiaries in accordance with the Ardagh Group Green Financing Framework (as defined herein).

<sup>(3)</sup> There was \$91 million available under the Bradesco Facility as of June 30, 2025.

<sup>(4)</sup> Consists of €500 million 3.000% Senior Unsecured Green Notes due 2029 and \$1,050 million 4.000% Senior Unsecured Green Notes due 2029, issued by certain of AMPSA's subsidiaries in accordance with the Ardagh Group Green Financing Framework (as defined herein).

#### DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

The following description of our share capital summarizes certain provisions of the Articles. Such summaries do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of our Articles.

#### General

AMPSA is a public limited liability company (*société anonyme*) incorporated and existing under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, having its registered office at 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg and registered with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies (R.C.S. Luxembourg) under number B 251465.

The corporate objects of the Company are set out in the Articles. They are to be interpreted in the broadest sense and any transaction or agreement which is entered into by the Company that is not inconsistent with the specified objects will be deemed to be within the scope of such objects or powers.

#### Shares

#### **Share Capital**

AMPSA was incorporated on January 20, 2021 by AGSA, with an initial share capital of  $\in 30,000$ , represented by 3,000,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of  $\in 0.01$  per share.

AMPSA's current issued share capital equals  $\[ \le \] 255,976,994.50$ , represented by 597,699,586 Ordinary Shares with a nominal value of  $\[ \le \] 0.01$  per share and 56,306,306 Preferred Shares with a nominal value of  $\[ \le \] 4.44$  per share (together, the "Shares"). All issued Shares are fully paid and subscribed for. The authorized capital of AMPSA (including the issued share capital) is set at  $\[ \le \] 1.000,000,000,000$ , divided into  $\[ 1.0000,000,000,000$  shares represented by Ordinary Shares and Preferred Shares. There are also  $\[ 1.50000,000,000,000$  get Ordinary Share, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement.

A shareholder in a Luxembourg société anonyme holding fully paid up shares is not liable, solely because of his, her or its shareholder status, for additional payments to AMPSA or its creditors.

#### **Share Issuances**

Pursuant to Luxembourg Law, the issuance of shares requires approval by the general meeting of shareholders subject to necessary quorum and majority requirements. The general meeting of shareholders or the Articles may also approve an authorized capital and authorize the Board to increase the issued share capital in one or several tranches with or without share premium, against payment in (i) cash, including the setting off of claims against AMPSA that are certain, due and payable, (ii) in kind, and (iii) reallocation of the share premium, profit reserves or other reserves of AMPSA, through issuance of shares, the granting of options to subscribe for shares, or the issuance of any other instruments convertible into or repayable by or exchangeable for shares (whether provided in the terms at issue or subsequently provided), the issuance of bonds with warrants or other rights to subscribe for shares attached, or the issuance of standalone warrants or any other instrument carrying an entitlement to, or the right to subscribe for, shares, up to a maximum of the authorized but as yet unissued share capital of AMPSA to such persons and on such terms as the Board determines in its absolute discretion. The Board can be authorized to remove or limit the statutory preferential subscription right of the shareholders in case of issue of shares up to the maximum amount of such authorized capital for a maximum period of five years after the date that the minutes of the relevant general meeting approving such authorization are published in the Luxembourg official gazette (*Recueil Electronique des Sociétés et Associations*, "RESA"). The general meeting may amend, renew, or extend such authorized capital and such authorization to the Board to issue shares.

The Articles authorize the Board to issue shares up to the maximum amount of the authorized unissued share capital of the AMPSA and to limit or withdraw any and all statutory preemptive rights which would be applicable in respect of such issuance for a period of five years from July 8, 2022, to such persons, on such terms and for such consideration as the Board determines in its absolute discretion. Shareholders may at a general meeting renew or extend such authorized share capital and authorization to the Board to issue shares.

In addition, the general meeting of shareholders may authorize the Board to make an allotment of existing or newly issued shares without consideration to (a) employees of AMPSA or certain categories amongst those; (b) employees of companies or economic interest grouping in which AMPSA holds directly or indirectly at least ten percent (10%) of the share capital or voting rights; (c) employees of companies or economic interest grouping holding directly or indirectly at least ten percent (10%) of the share capital or voting rights of AMPSA; (d) employees of companies or economic interest grouping in which at least fifty percent (50%) of the share capital or voting rights is held directly or indirectly by a company which holds directly or indirectly at least fifty percent (50%) of the share capital of AMPSA; (e) corporate officers of AMPSA or of the companies or economic interest grouping listed in points (b) to (d) above or certain categories amongst those, for a maximum period of five years after the date that the minutes of the relevant general meeting approving such authorization are published in the RESA.

The Articles authorize the Board to issue shares free of charge within the limitations set out in article 430-15 of the Luxembourg law of August 10, 1915 on commercial companies, as amended (the "1915 Law").

AMPSA recognizes only one (1) holder per share. In case a share is owned by several persons, AMPSA shall treat the first named holder on the register of shareholders as having been appointed by the joint holders to receive all notices and to give a binding receipt for any dividend(s) payable in respect of such share(s) on behalf of all joint holders, without prejudice to the rights of the other holders to information as set out in the 1915 Law.

The Board resolves on the issuance of shares out of the authorized capital (*capital autorisé*) in accordance with the quorum and voting thresholds set forth in the Articles and applicable law. The Board also resolves on the applicable procedures and timelines to which such issuance is subjected. If the proposal of the Board to issue new shares exceeds the limits of AMPSA's authorized share capital, the Board must then convene the shareholders to an extraordinary general meeting to be held in front of a Luxembourg notary for the purpose of increasing the issued share capital. Such meeting will be subject to the quorum and majority requirements required for amending the Articles. If the capital call proposed by the Board consists of an increase in the shareholders' commitments, the Board must convene the shareholders to an extraordinary general meeting to be held in front of a Luxembourg notary for such purpose. Such meeting will be subject to the unanimous consent of the shareholders.

#### **Preferred Shares**

All Preferred Shares are issued in the form of redeemable shares and are redeemable at the sole discretion of the Company at such date as decided by the Board. The holders of Preferred Shares have no right to request the redemption of their Preferred Shares. Without prejudice to the conditions set forth in the 1915 Law, the Preferred Shares will be redeemed pursuant to Article 8 of the Articles and by serving a Notice (the "Purchase Notice") to the owner of the Preferred Shares to be repurchased, specifying the Preferred Shares to be repurchased, the purchase price to be paid for such Preferred Shares and the place at which the purchase price in respect of such Preferred Shares is payable. Immediately after the close of business on the date specified in the Purchase Notice such holder shall cease to be the holder of the Preferred Shares specified in such Purchase Notice and its name shall be removed as the holder of such Preferred Shares from the Register of Shareholders. Any such holder will cease to have any right as a shareholder with respect to the Preferred Shares to be repurchased as from the date specified in the Purchase Notice.

Each Preferred Share is entitled to an annual preferred dividend amounting to 9% of its nominal value computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months (the "Annual Preferred Share Dividend"). The first pro rata Annual Preferred Share Dividend shall be calculated from the date of issuance of a Preferred Share (with the month of issuance being computed as a full month) until the end of the financial year of the date of issue, and all the subsequent Annual Preferred Share Dividend will be calculated per financial year of the Company. The entitlement to the Annual Preferred Share Dividend only becomes payable if and when such dividend is declared and then at such date as shall be

determined by the Board in its discretion. If at the end of a financial year, the Annual Preferred Share Dividend has not been declared or paid in full, the difference between the Annual Preferred Share Dividend and the portion of the Annual Preferred Share Dividend effectively paid (the "Delta") shall be rolled-over until the next financial year(s) but can also be deferred indefinitely by the Board in its sole discretion subject to Articles 15.4, 8.6 and 6.5 of the Articles. The Delta shall be set at the Annual Preferred Share Dividend if no Annual Preferred Share Dividend is approved at any annual general meeting or otherwise paid by way of an interim dividend during a financial year. If any Delta exists at the beginning of a financial year, any payment made on the Preferred Share will first be applied in reimbursement of such Delta and if such Delta and the Annual Preferred Share Dividend of the relevant financial year are not paid in full on the last day of such financial year, the difference will constitute a new Delta (a "New Delta") rolled-over to the next financial year.

No distributions may be made to the holders of Ordinary Shares during a financial year if there is any Delta or New Delta, or unless all the Preferred Shares are redeemed.

#### **Preemptive Rights**

Under Luxembourg Law, existing shareholders benefit from a preemptive subscription right on the issuance of shares for cash consideration. However, AMPSA's shareholders have, in accordance with Luxembourg Law, authorized the Board to suppress, waive, or limit any preemptive subscription rights of shareholders provided by law to the extent that the Board deems such suppression, waiver, or limitation advisable for any issuance or issuances of shares within the scope of AMPSA's authorized share capital. The general meeting of shareholders duly convened to consider an amendment to the Articles also may, by two-thirds majority vote, limit, waive, or cancel such preemptive rights or renew, amend, or extend them, in each case for a period not to exceed five years. Such shares may be issued above, at, or below market value, and, following a certain procedure, even below the nominal value or below the accounting par value per share. The shares also may be issued by way of incorporation of available reserves, including share premium.

#### **Share Repurchases**

AMPSA cannot subscribe for its own shares. AMPSA may, however, repurchase issued shares or have another person repurchase issued shares for its account, subject to the following conditions:

- prior authorization by a simple majority vote at an ordinary general meeting of shareholders, which authorization sets forth:
  - o the terms and conditions of the proposed repurchase and in particular the maximum number of shares to be repurchased;
  - o the duration of the period for which the authorization is given, which may not exceed five years; and
  - o in the case of repurchase for consideration, the minimum and maximum consideration per share, provided that the prior authorization shall not apply in the case of shares acquired by either AMPSA, or by a person acting in his or her own name on its behalf, for the distribution thereof to its staff or to the staff of a company with which it is in a control relationship;
- only fully paid-up shares may be repurchased;
- the voting rights attached to the repurchased shares will be suspended as long as the repurchased shares are held by AMPSA, the Board may decide to suspend the right to dividends attached to such repurchased shares; and the acquisition offer must be made on the same terms and conditions to all the shareholders who are in the same position, except for acquisitions which were unanimously decided by a general meeting at which all the shareholders were present or represented. In addition, listed companies may repurchase their own shares on the stock exchange without an acquisition offer having to be made to AMPSA's shareholders.

The authorization will be valid for a period ending on the earlier of five years from the date of such shareholder authorization and the date of its renewal by a subsequent general meeting of shareholders. Pursuant to such authorization, the Board is authorized to acquire and sell AMPSA's shares under the conditions set forth in article 430-15 of the 1915 Law, which are described above. Such purchases and sales may be carried out for any authorized purpose or any purpose that is authorized by the laws and regulations in force.

The Articles authorize the Board to purchase AMPSA's own shares in accordance with Luxembourg Law on such terms and in such manner as may be authorized by the general meeting of shareholders in an ordinary resolution, subject to the rules of any stock exchange on which the Ordinary Shares are traded. The Articles provide that the Board is authorized for a period of 5 years from July 8, 2022 to make (i) open market repurchases of shares subject to certain conditions, and (ii) repurchases of shares other than as described in (i) where the same terms are offered to all shareholders in a similar situation, it being understood that holders of Preferred Shares shall not be deemed to be in a similar situation to holders of Ordinary Shares.

In addition, pursuant to Luxembourg Law, AMPSA may directly or indirectly repurchase shares by resolution of the Board without the prior approval of the general meeting of shareholders if such repurchase is deemed by the Board to be necessary to prevent serious and imminent harm to AMPSA, or if the acquisition of shares has been made with the intent of distribution to its employees and/or the employees of any entity having a controlling relationship with it (i.e., its subsidiaries or controlling shareholder) or in any of the circumstances listed in article 430-16 of the 1915 Law.

#### **Voting Rights**

Each Ordinary Share entitles the holder thereof to one vote. Neither Luxembourg Law nor the Articles contain any restrictions as to the holding or voting of Ordinary Shares by non-Luxembourg residents. Luxembourg Law does not provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors. Voting of shareholders holding Ordinary Shares at a general meeting may be in person, by proxy or by voting form. The Articles specify how the Company shall determine the shareholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of shareholders or any adjournment thereof.

The Preferred Shares are non-voting shares. Any shareholder who holds one or more Preferred Share(s) may attend a shareholders meeting in person or be represented by proxy, but cannot vote. The Preferred Shares will not be taken into account for determining the quorum for items submitted to vote to the shareholders save for very specific situations set out in the 1915 Law in which holders of non-voting shares shall be entitled to vote (i.e. where the deliberation of the general meeting is such that it may result in an increase of the commitments of the shareholders or an amendment of the rights attaching to the non-voting shares as well as in any general meeting called upon to decide on the reduction of capital or on the early dissolution of the Company).

The Articles distinguish ordinary resolutions and special resolutions.

Ordinary Resolutions. The Articles (to be read in conjunction with Luxembourg Law) require a quorum of at least one-third (1/3) of the voting shares in issue present in person or by proxy, for any ordinary resolutions to be considered at a general meeting, and such ordinary resolutions are adopted by a simple majority of votes validly cast on such resolution by shareholders entitled to vote. Abstentions and nil votes are not taken into account.

Special Resolutions. The Articles require special resolutions adopted at an extraordinary general meeting for any of the following matters, among other things: (i) an increase or decrease of the authorized or issued capital, (ii) an amendment to the Articles and (iii) dissolving the Company. Pursuant to the Articles (to be read in conjunction with Luxembourg Law), for any special resolutions to be considered at an extraordinary general meeting the quorum is at least one-half (1/2) of the voting shares in issue present in person or by proxy, unless otherwise mandatorily required by the 1915 Law. Any special resolution may be adopted at an extraordinary general meeting at which a quorum is present, subject to the 1915 Law, by the affirmative vote of holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the votes validly cast on such resolution by shareholders entitled to vote.

AGSA, our parent company, by virtue of its indirect ownership of approximately 76% of our Ordinary Shares and its indirect ownership of 100% of our Preferred Shares, can control the outcome of any action requiring the general approval of our shareholders.

The Board may suspend the right to vote of any shareholder if such shareholder fails to fulfill its obligations under the Articles or any deed of subscription or deed of commitment entered into by such shareholder.

#### Amendment of the Articles

Except where the Articles authorize the Board to approve an increase or a reduction in share capital and subsequently record such change within thirty (30) days in the presence of a Luxembourg notary, the Articles require a special resolution approved at an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders to amend the Articles. The agenda of the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders must indicate the proposed amendments to the Articles. Any resolutions to amend the Articles must be taken before a Luxembourg notary and such amendments must be published in accordance with the 1915 Law.

#### **Annual Shareholders Meetings**

An annual general meeting of shareholders shall be held in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg within 6 months of the end of the preceding financial year.

#### Distributions on Winding up of the Company

Any voluntary dissolution of the Company will take place in accordance with the provisions of Luxembourg Law. The Company may only be placed into voluntary dissolution if shareholders holding Ordinary Shares and Preferred Shares vote in favor of such dissolution by means of a special resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of shares are entitled to share as set forth in our Articles.

Because all shares of the Company will be fully paid, shareholders will have no liability in the event of a winding up of the Company, unless they are deemed to be a de facto manager (*gérant de fait*) exercising effective and continuing control over the Company by positive actions

#### Mergers and De-mergers

A merger by absorption whereby a Luxembourg company, after its dissolution without liquidation, transfers to the absorbing company all of its assets and liabilities in exchange for the issuance to the shareholders of the company being acquired of shares in the acquiring company, or a merger effected by transfer of assets to a newly incorporated company, must, in principle, subject to certain exceptions, be approved by a special resolution of shareholders of the Luxembourg company to be held before a notary. Similarly, a de-merger of a Luxembourg company is, in principle, subject to certain exceptions subject to the approval by a special resolution of shareholders.

#### **Compulsory Transfer of Ordinary Shares**

The Articles provide that at any time a person is or becomes, directly or indirectly, the owner of 75% or more of the number of issued Ordinary Shares of the Company, such person (the "Acquiror") may require, by giving notice to the Company as specified in the Articles, the holders of the remaining issued Ordinary Shares of the Company to sell their Ordinary Shares to the Acquiror for cash at a price that reflects the fair market value of such Ordinary Shares as initially determined by an independent investment banking firm of international reputation retained by the Acquiror. The Articles contain procedures for determining the fair market value of the Ordinary Shares held by the minority shareholders, which include a dispute resolution provision permitting holders of at least 10% of the remaining Ordinary Shares of the Company to dispute the purchase price proposed by the Acquiror in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Articles.

#### **Anti-Takeover Provisions**

See the section entitled "Risk Factors — Risks Related to Being a Luxembourg Company and Our Status as a Foreign Private Issuer — Anti-takeover provisions in our Articles might discourage or delay attempts to acquire it." in the <a href="2024 Form 20-F">2024 Form 20-F</a> incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

#### **Shareholder Suits**

Class actions and derivative actions are generally not available to shareholders under Luxembourg Law. Minority shareholders holding securities entitled to vote at the general meeting that resolved on the granting of discharge to the directors, holding at least the 10% threshold (of the subscribed capital) may bring an action against the directors on behalf of the Company. Minority shareholders holding at least the 10% threshold (of the subscribed capital) may also ask the directors questions in writing concerning acts of management of the Company or one of its subsidiaries, and if the Company fails to answer these questions within one month, these shareholders may apply to the Luxembourg courts to appoint one or more experts instructed to submit a report on these acts of management. Furthermore, consideration would be given by a Luxembourg court in summary proceedings to acts that are alleged to constitute an abuse of majority rights against the minority shareholders.

The Articles contain a provision providing for the waiver by each of our shareholders of any claim or right of action they have, both individually and on the Company's behalf, against any director or officer in relation to any action or failure to take action by such director or officer, except in respect of any matter involving fraud or dishonesty, gross negligence, willful misconduct or action giving rise to criminal liability that may attach to such director or officer.

#### **Interested Directors**

The Articles contain specific provisions regarding interested directors and set forth procedures for approval of contracts or transactions involving an interested director. If a director has a direct or indirect financial interest conflicting with that of the Company in any contract or transaction to which the Company will be party, such interested director shall advise the Board thereof, cause a record of his or her statement to be included in the minutes of the meeting, and may not take part in the deliberations of the Board or any Board committee with respect to such contract or transaction and the Articles contain specific quorum and majority rules for meetings of the Board or its committees in case of conflicted directors. Such provisions do not apply to any contract or transaction that is within the ordinary course of business of the Company or its subsidiaries and is entered into on an arms' length basis under market conditions.

#### **Competition and Corporate Opportunities**

The Articles contain specific provisions regarding competition and the allocation of corporate opportunities that are applicable to members of the Board who are not employees of the Company, as well as their respective Affiliates and Affiliated Entities (each as defined in the Articles), in recognition and anticipation that members of the Board who are not employees of the Company and their respective Affiliates and Affiliated Entities may engage in the same or similar activities or related lines of business as those in which the Company, directly or indirectly, may engage or other business activities that overlap with or compete with those in which the Company, directly or indirectly, engages.

#### Warrants

Pursuant to the Warrant Assignment, Assumption and Amendment Agreement, GHV assigned to AMPSA all of GHV's right, title and interest in and to the existing Warrant Agreement and AMPSA assumed, and agreed to pay, perform, satisfy and discharge in full, all of GHV's liabilities and obligations under the existing Warrant Agreement arising from and after the August 4, 2021.

As of December 31, 2024, there were 16,749,984 Warrants outstanding. Each Warrant is exercisable to subscribe for one Ordinary Share and only whole Warrants are exercisable. The exercise price of the Warrants is \$11.50 per Ordinary Share, subject to adjustment as described in the Warrant Agreement. A Warrant may be exercised only during the period commencing on the later of (i) the date that is thirty (30) days after the consummation of the Merger, or

(ii) the date that is twelve (12) months from the IPO and terminating at 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the earlier to occur of: (x) the date that is five (5) years after the date on which the Merger is completed, or (y) the redemption date as provided in Section 6.3 of the Warrant Agreement.

#### Redemption of Warrants for Cash

Pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, the public warrants may be redeemed (i) in whole and not in part, (ii) at a price of \$0.01 per warrant, (iii) upon not less than 30 days' prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder, and (iv) if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Ordinary Shares equals or exceeds \$18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending three business days before sending the notice of redemption to each warrant holder.

If the public warrants are called for redemption for cash, management will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise the public warrants to do so on a "cashless basis," as described in the Warrant Agreement.

#### Redemption of Warrants for Ordinary Shares

AMPSA may redeem the outstanding Warrants (i) in whole and not in part, (ii) upon a minimum of 30 days' prior written notice of redemption at a price equal to a number of Ordinary Shares to be determined by reference to the table contained in Section 6.2 of the Warrant Agreement, based on the redemption date and the fair market value of the Ordinary Shares, (iii) if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the Ordinary Shares equals or exceeds \$10.00 per Ordinary Share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) on the trading day prior to the date on which the notice of redemption to the warrant holders is sent, (iv) if, and only if, the private warrants are also concurrently exchanged at the same price (equal to a number of Ordinary Shares) as the outstanding public warrants, and (v) if, and only if, there is an effective registration statement covering the Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants and a current prospectus relating thereto is available throughout the 30-day period after the written notice of redemption is given.

The private warrants are identical to the public warrants, except that the private warrants and the Ordinary Shares issuable upon the exercise of the private warrants were not transferable, assignable or salable until 30 days after the completion of the Merger, subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the private warrants are exercisable on a cashless basis and are non-redeemable (except as mentioned above) so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the private warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the private warrants will be redeemable and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the public warrants.

The foregoing description of the Warrants is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Warrant Agreement, filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, and the Warrant Assignment, Assumption and Amendment Agreement, filed as Exhibit 4.8 to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

#### **Dividends**

From the annual net profits of AMPSA, at least 5% shall each year be allocated to the reserve required by applicable laws (the "Legal Reserve"). That allocation to the Legal Reserve will cease to be required as soon and as long as the Legal Reserve amounts to 10% of the amount of the share capital of AMPSA. The general meeting of shareholders shall resolve how the remainder of the annual net profits, after allocation to the Legal Reserve, will be disposed of by allocating the whole or part of the remainder to a reserve or to a provision, by carrying it forward to the next following financial year or by distributing it, together with carried forward profits, distributable reserves or share premium to the holders of Ordinary Shares. No distributions may be made to the holders of Ordinary Shares during a financial year if there is any Delta or New Delta (each as defined in our Articles), or unless all the Preferred Shares are redeemed, as described in our Articles.

The Board may resolve that AMPSA pays out an interim dividend to the shareholders, subject to the conditions of article 461-3 of the 1915 Law and the Articles. The Board shall set the amount and the date of payment of the interim dividend. Any interim dividends declared by the Board and paid during a financial year will be put to the shareholders at the following general meeting to be declared as final.

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, in order for AMPSA to determine which shareholders shall be entitled to receipt of any dividend, the Board may fix a record date, which record date will be the close of business (or such other time as the Board may determine) on the date determined by the Board. In the absence of a record date being fixed, the record date for determining shareholders entitled to receipt of any dividend shall the close of business in Luxembourg on the day the dividend is declared.

Any share premium, assimilated premium or other distributable reserve may be freely distributed to the shareholders subject to the provisions of the 1915 Law and the Articles. In case of a dividend payment, each shareholder is entitled to receive a dividend right pro rata according to his or her respective shareholding. The dividend entitlement lapses upon the expiration of a five-year prescription period from the date of the dividend distribution. The unclaimed dividends return to AMPSA's accounts.

No distributions may be made to the holders of Ordinary Shares during a financial year if there is any Delta or New Delta, or unless all the Preferred Shares are redeemed. See "Preferred Shares" in this section.

#### Registrar, Transfer and Warrant Agent

The registrar and transfer agent for the Ordinary Shares and the warrant agent for the Warrants is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

#### Comparison of Luxembourg Corporate Law and Delaware Corporate Law

## SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL OF BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

#### Delaware

Generally, under the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL"), completion of a merger, consolidation, dissolution, or the sale, lease, or exchange of substantially all of a corporation's assets requires approval by the board of directors and by a majority (unless the certificate of incorporation requires a higher percentage) of outstanding stock of the corporation entitled to vote.

Mergers in which less than 20% of the acquirer's stock is issued generally do not require acquirer stockholder approval. Mergers in which one corporation owns 90% or more of a second corporation may be completed without the vote of the second corporation's board of directors or stockholders.

The DGCL also requires a special vote of stockholders in connection with a business combination with an

#### Luxembourg

Under Luxembourg Law and the Articles, the Board has the broadest powers to take any action necessary or useful to achieve the Company's purpose. The Board's powers are limited only by law and the Articles.

Any type of dissolution, voluntary liquidation or business combination that would require an amendment to the Articles, such as a merger or de-merger, requires an extraordinary resolution of a general meeting of shareholders. Transactions such as a sale, lease, or exchange of substantial company assets require only the approval of the Board. Neither Luxembourg Law nor the Articles contain any provision requiring the Board to obtain shareholder approval of a sale, lease, or exchange of substantial assets of AMPSA.

Delaware Luxembourg

SPECIAL VOTE REQUIRED FOR COMBINATIONS WITH INTERESTED SHAREHOLDERS

"interested stockholder" as defined in section 203 of the DGCL.

Section 203 of the DGCL generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in specified corporate transactions (such as mergers, stock and asset sales, and loans) with an "interested stockholder" for three years following the time that the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Subject specified to exceptions, an "interested stockholder" is a person or group that owns 15% or more of the corporation's outstanding voting stock (including any rights to acquire stock pursuant to an option, warrant, agreement, arrangement, or understanding, or upon the exercise of conversion or exchange rights, and stock with respect to which the person has voting rights only), or is an affiliate or associate of the corporation and was the owner of 15% or more of the voting stock at any time within the previous three years.

Under Luxembourg Law, no restriction exists as to the transactions that a shareholder may engage in with AMPSA. The transaction must, however, be in AMPSA's corporate interest, which for instance requires that the transactions are made on arm's length terms.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

Under the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation of a corporation may give the board of directors the right to issue new classes of preferred shares with voting, conversion, dividend distribution, and other rights to be determined by the board of directors at the time of issuance, which could prevent a takeover attempt and thereby preclude stockholders from realizing a potential premium over the market value of their shares.

In addition, Delaware law does not prohibit a corporation from adopting a stockholder rights plan, or "poison pill," which could prevent a takeover attempt and also preclude stockholders from realizing a potential premium over the market value of their shares. Pursuant to Luxembourg Law, the shareholders may create an authorized share capital which allows the Board to increase the issued share capital in one or several tranches with or without share premium, against payment in (i) cash, including the setting off of claims against AMPSA that are certain, due and payable, (ii) in kind, and (ii) reallocation of the share premium, profit reserves or other reserves of AMPSA, through issuance of shares, the granting of options to subscribe for shares, or the issuance of any other instruments convertible into or repayable by or exchangeable for shares (whether provided in the terms at issue or subsequently provided), the issuance of bonds with warrants or other rights to subscribe for shares attached, or the issuance of standalone warrants or any other instrument carrying an entitlement to, or the right to subscribe for, shares, up to a maximum of the authorized but as yet unissued share capital of AMPSA to

#### Luxembourg

such persons and on such terms as the Board determines in its absolute discretion. The Board may be further authorized to, under certain conditions, limit, restrict, or waive preferential subscription rights of existing shareholders when issuing new shares within the authorized share capital. The rights attached to the new shares issued within the authorized share capital will be equal to those attached to existing shares and set forth in the Articles.

In addition, the Board may be further authorized to make an allotment of existing newly issued shares consideration to (a) employees of AMPSA or certain categories amongst those; (b) employees of companies or economic interest grouping in which AMPSA holds directly or indirectly at least ten per cent (10%) of the share capital or voting rights; (c) employees of companies or economic interest grouping holding directly or indirectly at least ten per cent (10%) of the share capital or voting rights of AMPSA (d) employees of companies or economic interest grouping in which at least fifty per cent (50%) of the share capital or voting rights is held directly or indirectly by a company which holds directly or indirectly at least fifty per cent (50%) of the share capital of AMPSA; (e) corporate officers of AMPSA or of the companies or economic interest grouping listed in point (b) to (d) above or certain categories amongst those

The authorization to the Board to issue additional shares or other instruments as described above within the authorized share capital (and to limit, restrict, or waive, as the case may be, preferential subscription rights) as well as the authorization to allot shares without consideration may be valid for a period of up to five years, starting from either the date of the minutes of the extraordinary general meeting resolving upon such authorization or

#### Luxembourg

starting from the date of the publication of the minutes of the extraordinary general meeting resolving upon such authorization in the RESA. The authorization may be renewed, increased or reduced by a resolution of the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders, with the quorum and majority rules set for the amendment of the Articles.

The Articles authorize the Board to issue new shares, to grant options to subscribe for new shares, to issue any other instruments convertible into or repayable by or exchangeable for new shares (whether provided in the terms at issue or subsequently provided), to issue bonds with warrants or other rights to subscribe for new shares attached, or through the issue of standalone warrants or any other instrument carrying an entitlement to, or the right to subscribe for, new shares, up to a maximum of the authorized but as yet unissued share capital of the Company to such persons and on such terms as the Board determines in its absolute discretion AMPSA for a period ending five years after July 8, 2022 unless such period is extended, amended or renewed. Accordingly, the Board is authorized to issue shares up to the limits of authorized share capital until such date. AMPSA currently intends to seek renewals and/or extensions as required from time to

APPRAISAL RIGHTS

Under the DGCL, a stockholder of a corporation participating in some types of major corporate transactions may, under varying circumstances, be entitled to appraisal rights pursuant to which the stockholder may receive cash in the amount of the fair market value of his or her shares in lieu of the consideration he or she would otherwise receive in the transaction.

Neither Luxembourg Law nor the Articles provide for appraisal rights.

#### SHAREHOLDER CONSENT TO ACTION WITHOUT MEETING

#### **Delaware**

#### Under the DGCL, unless otherwise provided in a corporation's certificate of incorporation, any action that may be taken at a meeting of stockholders may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice, and without a vote if the holders of outstanding stock, having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize such action, consent in writing.

#### A shareholder meeting must always be called if the matter to be considered requires a shareholder resolution under Luxembourg Law or the Articles.

Luxembourg

Pursuant to Luxembourg Law, shareholders of a public limited liability company may not take actions by written consent. All shareholder actions must be approved at an actual meeting of shareholders held before a Luxembourg notary public or under private seal, depending on the nature of the matter.

Shareholders may vote in person, by proxy or, if the articles of association provide for that possibility, by correspondence.

The Articles provide for the possibility of vote in writing (by way of a voting form provided by the Company) on resolutions submitted to the general meeting, provided that the voting form includes (a) the name, first name, address and the signature of the relevant AMPSA shareholder, (b) the indication of the shares for which the AMPSA shareholder will exercise such right, (c) the agenda as set forth in the convening notice and (d) the voting instructions (approval, refusal, abstention) for each point of the agenda.

Under the DGCL, a special meeting of stockholders may be called by the board of directors or by any other person authorized to do so in the certificate of incorporation or

Under the DGCL, a corporation's certificate of incorporation or bylaws can specify the number of shares that constitute the quorum required to conduct business at a meeting, provided that in no event shall a quorum consist of less than one-third of the shares entitled to vote at a meeting.

the bylaws.

Pursuant to Luxembourg Law, at least one general meeting of shareholders must be held each year, within six months as from the close of the financial year. The purpose of such annual general meeting is to approve the annual accounts, allocate the results, proceed to statutory appointments and resolve on the discharge of the

Other general meetings of shareholders may be convened.

Luxembourg Law distinguishes between ordinary resolutions to be adopted and extraordinary resolutions to be adopted by the general meeting of shareholders. Extraordinary

#### MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS

#### Luxembourg

resolutions relate to proposed amendments to the articles of association and other limited matters. All other resolutions are ordinary resolutions.

Pursuant to Luxemburg law, there is no requirement of a quorum for any ordinary resolutions to be considered at a general meeting and such ordinary resolutions shall be adopted by a simple majority of votes validly cast on such resolution. The Articles (to be read in conjunction with Luxembourg Law) provide that ordinary general meetings (including the annual general meeting) the holders of in excess of onethird (1/3) of the voting shares in issue present in person or by proxy shall form a quorum for the transaction of business and ordinary resolutions are approved by the affirmative votes of a simple majority of the votes validly cast. Abstentions are not considered "votes."

Extraordinary resolutions are required for, among others, any of the following matters: (i) an increase or decrease of the authorized or issued share capital, (ii) a limitation or exclusion of preemptive rights, (iii) approval of a statutory merger or demerger (*scission*), (iv) dissolution, (v) an amendment of the articles of association and (vi) change of nationality.

Pursuant to Luxembourg Law for any extraordinary resolutions to be considered at a general meeting, the quorum shall be at least one half (50%) of the voting shares in issue. If the said quorum is not present, a second meeting may be convened at which Luxembourg Law does not prescribe a quorum. Any extraordinary resolution shall be adopted at a quorate general meeting (except as otherwise provided by mandatory law) by a two-thirds majority of the votes validly cast on such resolution by shareholders. Abstentions are not considered "votes."

#### Luxembourg

The 1915 Law provides that if, as a result of losses, net assets fall below half of the share capital of the company, the Board shall convene an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders so that it is held within a period not exceeding two months from the time at which the loss was or should have been ascertained by them and such meeting shall resolve on the possible dissolution of the company and possibly on other measures announced in the agenda. The Board shall, in such situation, draw up a special report which sets out the causes of that situation and justify its proposals eight days before the extraordinary general meeting. If it proposes to continue to conduct business, it shall set out in the report the measures it intends to take in order to remedy the financial situation of the company. The same rules apply if, as a result of losses, net assets fall below onequarter of the share capital provided that in such case dissolution shall take place if approved by one-fourth of the votes casts at the extraordinary general meeting.

#### Under Luxembourg Law, the amount and payment of annual dividends or other distributions is determined by a simple majority vote at a general shareholders' meeting based on the recommendation of the Board. Pursuant to the Articles, the Board has the power to pay interim dividends or make other distributions in accordance with applicable Luxembourg Law. Distributions may be lawfully declared and paid if AMPSA's net profits and/or distributable reserves are sufficient under Luxembourg Law. No distributions may be made to the holders of the Ordinary Shares so long as the preferred dividend due to the holders of Preferred Shares has not been paid in accordance with the

redeemed.

Under Luxembourg Law, at least 5% of AMPSA's net profits per year must

Articles or unless the Preferred Shares are

#### DISTRIBUTIONS AND DIVIDENDS: REPURCHASES AND REDEMPTIONS

Under the DGCL, the board of directors, subject to any restrictions in the corporation's certificate of incorporation, may declare and pay dividends out of:

- surplus of the corporation, which is defined as net assets less statutory capital; or
- if no surplus exists, out of the net profits of the corporation for the year in which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding year.

If, however, the capital of the corporation has been diminished by depreciation in the value of its property, or by losses, or otherwise, to an amount less than the aggregate amount of capital represented by the issued and outstanding stock of all classes having a preference upon the distribution of assets, the board of

directors shall not declare and pay dividends out of the corporation's net profits until the deficiency in the capital has been repaired.

Under the DGCL, any corporation may purchase or redeem its own shares, except that generally it may not purchase or redeem these shares if such repurchase or redeemption would impair the capital of the corporation. A corporation may, however, purchase or redeem out of capital any of its own shares which are entitled upon any distribution of its assets to a preference over another class or series of its shares if such shares will be retired and the capital reduced.

#### Luxembourg

be allocated to the creation of a legal reserve until such reserve has reached an amount equal to 10% of AMPSA's issued share capital. The allocation to the legal reserve becomes compulsory again when the legal reserve no longer represents 10% of AMPSA's issued share capital. The legal reserve is not available for distribution.

Pursuant to Luxembourg Law, AMPSA (or any party acting on its behalf) may repurchase its own shares and hold them in treasury, provided that:

- the shareholders at a general meeting have previously authorized the Board to acquire its shares. The general meeting shall determine the terms and conditions of the proposed acquisition and in particular the maximum number of shares to be acquired, the period for which the authorization is given (which may not exceed five years), and, in the case of acquisition for value, the maximum and minimum consideration;
- the acquisitions, including shares previously acquired by AMPSA and held by it and shares acquired by a person acting in his or her own name but on AMPSA's behalf, may not have the effect of reducing the net assets below the amount of the issued share capital plus the reserves (which may not be distributed by law or under the Articles);
- the shares repurchased are fully paidup; and

#### Luxembourg

the acquisition offer must be made on the same terms and conditions to all the shareholders who are in the same position, except for acquisitions which were unanimously decided by a general meeting at which all the shareholders were present or represented. In addition, listed companies may repurchase their own shares on the stock exchange without an acquisition offer having to be made to AMPSA's shareholders.

No prior authorization by shareholders is required (i) if the acquisition is made to prevent serious and imminent harm to AMPSA, provided that the Board informs the next general meeting of the reasons for and the purpose of the acquisitions made, the number and nominal values or the accounting value of the shares acquired, the proportion of the subscribed capital which they represent, and the consideration paid for them, and (ii) in the case of shares acquired by either AMPSA or by a person acting on its behalf with a view to redistributing the shares to its staff or staff of its controlled subsidiaries, provided that the distribution of such shares is made within twelve months from their acquisition.

Luxembourg Law provides for further situations in which the above conditions do not apply, including the acquisition of shares pursuant to a decision to reduce AMPSA's share capital or the acquisition of shares issued as redeemable shares. Such acquisitions may not have the effect of reducing net assets below the aggregate of reducing net assets below the aggregate of subscribed capital and reserves (which may not be distributed by law) and are subject to specific provisions on reductions in share capital and redeemable shares under Luxembourg Law.

Any shares acquired in contravention of the above provisions must be resold

#### Luxembourg

within a period of one year after the acquisition or be cancelled at the expiration of the one-year period.

As long as shares are held in treasury, the voting rights attached thereto are suspended. Further, to the extent the treasury shares are reflected as assets on AMPSA's balance sheet a non-distributable reserve of the same amount must be reflected as a liability.

The Articles authorize the Board to purchase AMPSA's own shares in accordance with Luxembourg Law on such terms and in such manner as may be authorized by the general meeting of shareholders in an ordinary resolution, subject to the rules of any stock exchange on which AMPSA's Ordinary Shares are traded. The Articles provide that the Board is authorized for a period of 5 years from July 8, 2022 to make (i) open market repurchases of Ordinary Shares subject to certain conditions and (ii) repurchases of shares other than as described in (i) where the same terms are offered to all shareholders in a similar situation, it being understood that holders of Preferred Shares shall not be deemed to be in a similar situation to holders of Ordinary Shares.

The Articles provide that the Board shall be composed of at least three directors and no more than fifteen directors, to be elected by a simple majority vote at a general meeting. Abstentions are not considered "votes."

Pursuant to Luxembourg Law, the Board must be composed of at least three directors. They are appointed by the general meeting of shareholders (by proposal of the Board, the shareholders, or a spontaneous candidacy) by a simple majority of the votes cast. Directors may be reelected, but the term of their office may not exceed six years.

NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

A typical certificate of incorporation and bylaws would provide that the number of directors on the board of directors will be fixed from time to time by a vote of the majority of the authorized directors.

### VACANCIES ON BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#### Delaware

# The DGCL provides that vacancies and newly created directorships may be filled by a majority of the directors then in office (even though less than a quorum) unless (a) otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of the corporation or (b) the certificate of incorporation directs that a particular class of stock is to elect such director, in which case any other directors elected by such class, or a sole remaining director elected by such class, will fill such vacancy.

#### Luxembourg

Under Luxembourg Law in case of vacancy of the office of a director appointed by the general meeting, unless the vacancy results from the removal of a director by the shareholders, the remaining directors so appointed may fill the vacancy on a provisional basis. In such circumstances, the next general meeting shall make the final appointment. The decision to fill a vacancy is taken by the remaining directors by simple majority vote.

The Articles provide that in case of a vacancy the remaining members of the Board may elect a director to fill the vacancy. A director so appointed shall be appointed to the class of directors that the director he or she is replacing belonged to, provided that such director shall hold office only until ratification by the shareholders of his or her appointment at the next following general meeting and, if such general meeting does not ratify the appointment, such director shall vacate his or her office at the conclusion thereof

#### REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS; STAGGERED TERM OF DIRECTORS

Under Delaware law, a board of directors can be divided into classes. The board of directors is divided into three classes, with only one class of directors being elected in each year and each class serving a three-year term.

Under Luxembourg Law, a director may be removed by the general meeting of shareholders (by proposal of the Board, the shareholders, or a spontaneous request) by a simple majority of the votes cast, with or without cause.

The Articles provide for three different classes of directors designated Class I, Class II and Class III. The Class I Directors are appointed for a one (1) year term of office, the Class II Directors are appointed for a two (2) year term of office and the Class III Directors are appointed for a three (3) year term of office. At each succeeding annual general meeting, successors to the class of Directors whose term expires at that annual general meeting shall be elected for a three (3) year term of office.

### **CUMULATIVE VOTING**

#### **Delaware**

# Luxembourg

Not applicable.

# Under the DGCL, a corporation may adopt in its certificate of incorporation that its directors shall be elected by cumulative voting. When directors are elected by cumulative voting, a stockholder has a number of votes equal to the number of shares held by such stockholder multiplied by the number of directors nominated for election. The stockholder may cast all of such votes for one director or among the directors in any proportion.

# AMENDMENT OF GOVERNING DOCUMENTS

Under the DGCL, a certificate of incorporation may be amended if:

- the board of directors sets forth the proposed amendment in a resolution, declares the advisability of the amendment and directs that it be submitted to a vote at a meeting of stockholders; and
- the holders of at least a majority of shares of stock entitled to vote on the matter approve the amendment, unless the certificate of incorporation requires the vote of a greater number of shares.

In addition, under the DGCL, class voting rights exist with respect to amendments to the charter that adversely affect the terms of the shares of a class. Class voting rights do not exist as to other extraordinary matters, unless the charter provides otherwise.

Under the DGCL, the board of directors may amend a corporation's bylaws if so authorized in the charter. The stockholders of a Delaware corporation also have the power to amend bylaws.

Under Luxembourg Law, amendments to the Articles require an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders held in front of a Luxembourg notary at which at least one half (50%) of the voting shares in issue is present or represented.

The notice of the extraordinary general meeting shall set out the proposed amendments to the articles of association.

If the aforementioned quorum is not reached, a second meeting may be convened by means of a notice published in the RESA and in a Luxembourg newspaper 15 days before the meeting. The second meeting shall be validly constituted regardless of the proportion of the share capital present or represented.

At both meetings, resolutions will be adopted if approved by at least two-thirds of the votes cast by shareholders (unless otherwise required by Luxembourg Law or the articles of association). Where classes of shares exist and the resolution to be adopted by the general meeting of shareholders changes the respective rights attaching to such shares, the resolution will be adopted only if the conditions as to quorum and majority set out above are fulfilled with respect to each class of shares.

Delaware

#### Luxembourg

An increase of the commitments of its shareholders requires the unanimous consent of the shareholders.

The Articles (to be read in conjunction with Luxembourg Law) provide that for any extraordinary resolutions to be considered at a general meeting, the quorum shall be at least one-half of AMPSA's the voting shares in issue. If the said quorum is not present, a second meeting may be convened at which Luxembourg Law does not prescribe a quorum. Any extraordinary resolution shall be adopted at a quorate general meeting (save as otherwise provided by mandatory law) by a two-thirds majority of the votes validly cast on such resolution by shareholders. Abstentions are considered "votes."

In very limited circumstances, the Board may be authorized by the shareholders to amend the articles of association, albeit always within the limits set forth by the shareholders at a duly convened shareholders' meeting. This is the case in the context of AMPSA's authorized share capital within which the Board is authorized to issue further shares. The Board is then authorized to appear in front of a Luxembourg notary to record the capital increase and to amend the share capital set forth in the Articles. The above also applies in case of the transfer of AMPSA's registered office outside the current municipality.

Luxembourg Law permits AMPSA to keep directors indemnified against any expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in connection with liability of a director towards AMPSA or a third party for management errors i.e., for wrongful acts committed during the execution of the mandate (mandat) granted to the director by AMPSA, except in connection with criminal offences, gross negligence or fraud

# INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The DGCL generally permits a corporation to indemnify its directors and officers against expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with a third-party action, other than a derivative action, and against expenses actually and reasonably incurred in the defense or settlement of a derivative action, provided that there is a determination made by the corporation that the individual acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be in or

Delaware Luxembourg

not opposed to the best interests of the corporation. Such determination shall be made, in the case of an individual who is a director or officer at the time of the determination:

- by a majority of the disinterested directors, even though less than a quorum;
- by a committee of disinterested directors designated by a majority vote of disinterested, directors, even though less than a quorum;
- by independent legal counsel, regardless of whether a quorum of disinterested directors exists; or
- by the stockholders.

Without court approval, however, no indemnification may be made in respect of any derivative action in which an individual is adjudged liable to the corporation.

The DGCL requires indemnification of directors and officers for expenses relating to a successful defense on the merits or otherwise of a derivative or third-party action. The DGCL permits a corporation to advance expenses relating to the defense or any proceeding to directors and officers contingent upon those individuals' commitment to repay any advances, unless it is determined ultimately that those individuals are entitled to be indemnified.

LIMITED LIABILITY OF DIRECTORS AND CERTAIN OFFICERS

Delaware law permits limiting or eliminating the monetary liability of a director and certain officers to a corporation or its stockholders for breach of fiduciary duty as a director or officer, except with regard to breaches of duty of loyalty, any act or omission not in good faith or which involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of the law, with respect to directors, any liability under section 174 of the DGCL which relates to the payment of unlawful dividends and unlawful stock purchases or redemptions, or with respect to

Luxembourg Law does not provide for an *ex ante* limitation of liability but it permits AMPSA to keep directors or officers indemnified as set out above.

**Delaware** 

Luxembourg

ADVANCE NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR PROPOSALS OF SHAREHOLDERS officers, any action by or in the right of the corporation.

Delaware corporations typically have provisions in their bylaws that require a stockholder proposing a nominee for election to the board of directors or other proposals at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders to provide notice of any such proposals to the secretary of the corporation in advance of the meeting for any such proposal to be brought before the meeting of the stockholders. In addition, advance notice bylaws frequently require the stockholder nominating a person for election to the board of directors to provide information about the nominee, such as his or her age, address, employment and beneficial ownership of shares of the corporation's capital stock. The stockholder may also be required to disclose, among other things, his or her name, share ownership and agreement, arrangement or understanding with respect to such nomination.

For other proposals, the proposing stockholder is often required by the bylaws to provide a description of the proposal and any other information relating to such stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf that proposal is being made, required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitation of proxies for the proposal and pursuant to and in accordance with the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder

The proposing stockholder must also comply with the requirements of applicable law, including Rule 14a-19 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

One or several shareholders holding at least 10% of the share capital in issue may request the addition of one or several items on the agenda of a general meeting. Such request must be addressed to the registered office of AMPSA by registered mail at least five days before the general meeting.

If one or more shareholders representing at least 10% of the share capital in issue request so in writing, with an indication of the agenda, the convening of a general meeting, the Board or the statutory auditor must convene a general meeting. The general meeting must be held within a period of one month from receipt of such request.

### SHAREHOLDERS' SUITS

#### Delaware

Under Delaware law, a stockholder may bring a derivative action on a company's behalf to enforce the rights of a company. An individual also may commence a class action lawsuit on behalf of himself or herself and other similarly situated stockholders if the requirements for maintaining a class action lawsuit under Delaware law are met. An individual may institute and maintain a class action lawsuit only if such person was a stockholder at the time of the transaction that is the subject of the lawsuit or his or her shares thereafter devolved upon him or her by operation of law. In addition, the plaintiff must generally be a stockholder through the duration of the

Delaware law requires that a derivative plaintiff make a demand on the directors of the corporation to assert the corporate claim before the lawsuit may be prosecuted, unless such demand would be futile.

#### Luxembourg

Under Luxembourg Law, the Board has sole authority to decide whether to initiate legal action to enforce a company's rights (other than, in certain circumstances, an action against board members).

Shareholders generally do not have the authority to initiate legal action on a company's behalf unless the company fails abusively to exercise its legal rights. However, a company's shareholders may vote at a general meeting to initiate legal action against directors on grounds that the directors have failed to perform their duties.

Luxembourg Law does not provide for class action lawsuits.

However, it is possible for plaintiffs who have similar but separate claims against the same defendant(s) to bring an action on a "group" basis by way of a joint action. It is also possible to ask the court, under article 206 of the Luxembourg New Civil Procedure Code, to join claims which are closely related and to rule on them together.

In addition, minority shareholders holding an aggregate of 10% of the voting rights and who voted against the discharge to a director at the annual general meeting of the company can initiate legal action against the director on behalf of the company.

#### SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS

This prospectus relates to the resale by the Selling Securityholders from time to time of up to 461,286,233 Ordinary Shares and 3,545,210 Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, which were originally Private Placement Warrants that were automatically converted into Warrants upon consummation of the Merger.

The Selling Securityholders may from time to time offer and sell any or all of the Ordinary Shares and Warrants set forth below pursuant to this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement. When we refer to the "Selling Securityholders" in this prospectus, we mean the persons listed in the table below, and the pledgees, donees, transferees, assignees, successors, designees and others who later come to hold any of the Selling Securityholders' interest in the Ordinary Shares and Warrants other than through a public sale.

The table below sets forth, as of the date of this prospectus, the name of the Selling Securityholders for which we are registering Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants for resale to the public, the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants beneficially owned and the aggregate principal amount that the Selling Securityholders may offer pursuant to this prospectus. The individuals and entities listed below have beneficial ownership over their respective securities. The SEC has defined "beneficial ownership" of a security to mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of voting power and/or investment power over such security. A shareholder is also deemed to be, as of any date, the beneficial owner of all securities that such shareholder has the right to acquire within 60 days after that date through (i) the exercise of any option, warrant or right, (ii) the conversion of a security, (iii) the power to revoke a trust, discretionary account or similar arrangement, or (iv) the automatic termination of a trust, discretionary account or similar arrangement. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, shares subject to options or other rights (as set forth above) held by that person that are currently exercisable, or will become exercisable within 60 days thereafter, are deemed outstanding, while such shares are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowledge, the persons and entities named in the tables have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all securities that they beneficially own, subject to community property laws where applicable.

For purposes of the "*Ordinary Shares*" table below, we have based percentage ownership on 597,699,586 Ordinary Shares and for purposes of the "*Warrants*" table below, we have based percentage ownership on 16,749,984 Warrants outstanding, as of the date of this prospectus, which became exercisable for Ordinary Shares on September 3, 2021.

We cannot advise you as to whether the Selling Securityholders will in fact sell any or all of such Ordinary Shares and Warrants. As such, we are unable to declare the number of Ordinary Shares and Warrants that the Selling Securityholders will retain after any such sale. In addition, the Selling Securityholders may sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, at any time and from time to time, the Ordinary Shares and Warrants in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act after the date of this prospectus.

Selling Securityholder information for each additional Selling Securityholder, if any, will be set forth by prospectus supplement to the extent required prior to the time of any offer or sale of such Selling Securityholder's Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants pursuant to this prospectus. Any prospectus supplement may add, update, substitute, or change the information contained in this prospectus, including the identity of each Selling Securityholder and the number of Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants registered on its behalf. A Selling Securityholder may sell or otherwise transfer all, some or none of such Ordinary Shares or Warrants in this offering. See "Plan of Distribution."

The shares owned by the persons named below do not have voting rights different from the shares owned by other holders. Unless otherwise indicated, the business address of each beneficial owner listed in the tables below is c/o AMPSA, 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg.

	Or Securities Beneficially Owned prior to this Offering		Maximum Number of Securities to be Sold in this Offering	Securities Beneficially Owned after this Offering(2)	
Name of Selling Securityholder	Ordinary Shares	Percentage(1)	Ordinary Shares	Ordinary Shares	Percentage
Ardagh Group S.A. <sup>(3)</sup>	454,375,314	76.021 %	454,375,314		
Platinum Equity, LLC <sup>(4)</sup>	7,907,012	1.317 %	3,993,426	3,913,586	*
Randall Bort(5)	25,000	*	25,000	_	_
William Patton <sup>(5)</sup>	25,000	*	25,000	_	_
Jeffrey Rea <sup>(5)</sup>	25,000	*	25,000	_	_
All Other Selling Securityholders(6)	3,171,337	*	2,842,493	328,844	*

Less than one percent of outstanding Ordinary Shares.

- (2) Assumes the sale of all Ordinary Shares offered in this prospectus.
- (3) Indirectly held by Ardagh Group S.A. through its wholly owned subsidiary Ardagh Investments Sarl. The business address of Ardagh Group S.A. is 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg.
- (4) The business address of Platinum Equity, LLC is 360 North Crescent Drive, South Building, Beverly Hills, CA 90210. Includes 2,531,250 Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise of Warrants. Tom Gores is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Platinum Equity, LLC. Tom Gores is the brother of Alec Gores, who was the former Chairman of Gores Holdings V, Inc.
- (5) Party to the Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement dated August 4, 2021. Messrs. Bort, Patton and Rea were former directors of Gores Holdings V, Inc.
- (6) This disclosure with respect to the remaining Selling Securityholders is being made on an aggregate basis, as opposed to an individual basis, because their aggregate holdings are less than 1% of the total outstanding Ordinary Shares. This includes Ordinary Shares owned by Mark Stone and Andrew McBride. Mark Stone and Andrew McBride were the former Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Gores Holdings V, Inc., respectively.

			Warrants		
	0 1/1	ъ ечн	Maximum Number of	g ***	D 6.11
	Owned p	Beneficially rior to this	Securities to be Sold in this Offering	Owned	Beneficially after this
		Offering		Offering(2)	
Name of Selling Securityholder	Warrants	Percentage(1)	Warrants	Warrants	Percentage
Platinum Equity, LLC <sup>(3)</sup>	2,531,250	15.11 %	2,531,250	_	
Mark Stone <sup>(4)</sup>	296,875	1.77 %	296,875	_	
Jacob Kotzubei <sup>(5)</sup>	250,000	1.49 %	250,000	_	_
Louis Samson <sup>(6)</sup>	250,000	1.49 %	250,000	_	
Edward Johnson <sup>(7)</sup>	73,915	*	73,915	_	_
Barret Sprowl(8)	33,525	*	33,525	_	
Mark Barnhill <sup>(9)</sup>	31,250	*	31,250	_	_
Mary Ann Sigler(10)	31,250	*	31,250	_	
Jennifer Kwon Chou(11)	25,593	*	25,593	_	
Joseph Skarzenski (12)	21,552	*	21,552	_	

Less than one percent of outstanding Warrants.

<sup>(1)</sup> In calculating the percentages, (a) the numerator is calculated by adding the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares held by such beneficial owner and the total number of Warrants held by such beneficial owner (if any); and (b) the denominator, unless otherwise noted, is calculated by adding the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares outstanding and the number of Ordinary Shares issuable upon the exercise of Warrants held by any other beneficial owner).

# Table of Contents

- (1) In calculating the percentages, (a) the numerator is calculated by adding the total number of Warrants held by such beneficial owner; and (b) the denominator is calculated by adding the aggregate number of outstanding Warrants.
- (2) Assumes the sale of all Warrants offered in this prospectus.
- (3) Tom Gores is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Platinum Equity, LLC. Tom Gores is the brother of Alec Gores, who was the former Chairman of Gores Holdings V, Inc. The business address of Platinum Equity, LLC is 360 N. Crescent Drive, Beverly Hills, CA 90210.
- (4) The business address of Mark Stone is 6260 Lookout Road, Boulder, CO 80301.
- (5) The business address of Jacob Kotzubei is 2691 Wallingford Dr, Beverly Hills, CA 90210.
- (6) The business address of Louis Samson is 6260 Lookout Road, Boulder, CO 80301.
- (7) The business address of Edward Johnson is 3130 North Harwood Street, Apartment 2801, Dallas, TX 75201.
- (8) The business address of Barret Sprowl is 6260 Lookout Road, Boulder, CO 80301.
- (9) The business address of Mark Barnhill is 6260 Lookout Road, Boulder, CO 80301.
- (10) The business address of Mary Ann Sigler is 360 North Crescent Drive, Beverly Hills, CA 90210.
- (11) The business address of Jennifer Kwon Chou is 6260 Lookout Road, Boulder, CO 80301.
- (12) The business address of Joseph Skarzenski is 6260 Lookout Road, Boulder, CO 80301.

#### MATERIAL LUXEMBOURG TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a general description of certain Luxembourg tax considerations relating to AMPSA and the holders of Ordinary Shares or Warrants. It does not purport to be a complete analysis of all tax considerations in relation to the Ordinary Shares or Warrants. Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisers as to which countries' tax laws could be relevant to acquiring, holding and disposing of the securities and the consequences of such actions under the tax laws of those countries. This overview is based upon the law as in effect on the date of this document and is subject to any change in law that may take effect after such date, even with retroactive effect.

The comments below are intended as a basic overview of certain tax consequences in relation to AMPSA and the purchase, ownership and disposition of Ordinary Shares or Warrants under Luxembourg Law. Tax matters are complex, and the tax consequences of the offering to a particular holder of Ordinary Shares or Warrants will depend in part on such holder's circumstances. Accordingly, a holder is urged to consult his or her own tax advisor for a full understanding of the tax consequences of the offering to him or her, including the applicability and effect of Luxembourg tax laws.

The summary in this Luxembourg taxation section does not address the Luxembourg tax consequences for a holder of Ordinary Shares or Warrants who:

- (i) is an investor as defined in a specific law (such as the law on family wealth management companies of 11 May 2007, as amended, the law on undertakings for collective investment of 17 December 2010, as amended, the law on specialized investment funds of 13 February 2007, as amended, the law on reserved alternative investment funds of 23 July 2016, the law on securitisation of 22 March 2004, as amended, the law on venture capital vehicles of 15 June 2004, as amended and the law on pension saving companies and associations of 13 July 2005;
- (ii) is a Luxembourg resident individual;
- (iii) is, in whole or in part, exempt from tax; or
- (iv) acquires, owns or disposes of Ordinary Shares or Warrants in connection with a membership of a management board, a supervisory board, an employment relationship, a deemed employment relationship or management role.

Where in this summary English terms and expressions are used to refer to Luxembourg tax concepts, the meaning to be attributed to such terms and expressions shall be the meaning to be attributed to the equivalent Luxembourg concepts under Luxembourg Law.

#### Taxation of AMPSA

AMPSA is subject to Luxembourg tax on its worldwide profits at the current combined ordinary rate of 23.87% for Luxembourg City, including (i) the 16% corporate income tax on which a 7% solidarity surcharge is added and (ii) a 6.75% municipal business tax (together the "Income Tax").

In principle, dividends and capital gains realized by AMPSA are subject to Income Tax in Luxembourg. However, provided the conditions of the Luxembourg participation exemption regime are met, dividends and capital gains realized by AMPSA upon the disposal of Shares are not taxable in Luxembourg. The Luxembourg participation exemption does not apply to the extent of previously deducted expenses, write-offs, and/or realized losses relating to the relevant participation i.e., those are recaptured. Certain general, as well as specific, anti-abuse provisions may also apply.

Luxembourg net wealth tax ("NWT") will be due annually by AMPSA at the rate of 0.5% on its total net asset value below or equal to 6500 million. The tranche above 6500 million will be taxed at a rate of 0.05%.

Shareholdings qualifying for the Luxembourg participation exemption regime are excluded from the NWT basis provided that, the relevant entity holds a direct shareholding in a qualifying subsidiary representing at least 10% of the

qualifying subsidiary's share capital or having an acquisition cost (including both share capital and share premium) of at least €1.2 million; there is no minimum holding period requirement.

AMPSA may be subject to progressive minimum NWT which ranges between  $\ensuremath{\mathfrak{E}}$ 335 and  $\ensuremath{\mathfrak{E}}$ 4,815 depending on the company's total amount of balance sheet.

# Withholding taxation

Any dividends distributed by AMPSA will in principle be subject to a 15% withholding tax unless an exemption or a treaty reduction applies.

The concept "dividends distributed by AMPSA" as used in this Luxembourg taxation paragraph includes, but is not limited to, distributions in cash or in kind, proceeds paid by AMPSA upon a redemption or repurchase of Ordinary Shares and repayments of capital.

# Luxembourg taxation of the holders

Luxembourg tax residence of the holders

Holders will not be deemed to be resident, domiciled or carrying on business in Luxembourg for income tax purposes solely by reason of holding, execution, performance, delivery, exchange and/or enforcement of the Ordinary Shares or Warrants.

Taxation of Luxembourg non-residents

Holders who are non-residents of Luxembourg and who do not have a permanent establishment, a permanent representative, or a fixed place of business in Luxembourg with which the holding of the Ordinary Shares or Warrants is connected, are not liable to any Luxembourg income tax (other than a tax potentially levied by way of withholding at source), whether they receive payments upon redemption or repurchase of all Ordinary Shares or Warrants, or realize capital gains on the sale of any Ordinary Shares or Warrants, unless they sell a substantial participation within 6 months of its acquisition or they have been a resident of Luxembourg for tax purposes for at least 15 years and have become a non-resident within the 5 years preceding the realization of the gain.

A participation is deemed to be substantial where a holder holds or has held, either alone or together with the holder's spouse or partner and/or minor children, directly or indirectly at any time within the five years preceding the disposal, more than 10% of the capital of AMPSA.

Taxation of Luxembourg residents

Holders who are Luxembourg resident companies (société de capitaux) or foreign entities which have a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in Luxembourg with which the holding of the Ordinary Shares or Warrants is connected, must include in their taxable income any income (including dividends) and the difference between the sale or redemption price and the tax book value of the Ordinary Shares or Warrants sold or redeemed, unless for Ordinary Shares the conditions of the Luxembourg participation exemption regime are met.

Net Wealth Tax

Luxembourg NWT will not be levied on the Ordinary Shares or Warrants held by a corporate holder, unless: (a) such holder is a Luxembourg resident or (b) such Ordinary Shares or Warrants are attributable to an enterprise or part thereof which is carried on by a non-resident company in Luxembourg through a permanent establishment. Ordinary Shares qualifying for the Luxembourg participation exemption regime are excluded from the NWT basis.

### Table of Contents

# Other Taxes

No registration tax will be payable by a holder of Ordinary Shares or Warrants upon the disposal of Ordinary Shares or Warrants by sale or exchange. The issuance as well as the redemption of shares by a Luxembourg resident company as well as any other changes to its articles of association are subject to a fixed registration tax in Luxembourg amounting to €75. Registration duties may, moreover, be due if documents relating to the Ordinary Shares or Warrants are (i) voluntarily registered in Luxembourg, (ii) appended to a document that requires obligatory registration in Luxembourg or (iii) deposited with the official records of a Luxembourg notary.

There is no Luxembourg value added tax payable in respect of payments in consideration for the issuance of the Ordinary Shares or Warrants or in respect of the payment under the Ordinary Shares or Warrants or in respect of the transfer of the Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants.

No Luxembourg inheritance tax is levied on the transfer of the Ordinary Shares or Warrants upon the death of a holder in cases where the deceased was not a resident of Luxembourg for inheritance tax purposes. Where a holder is a resident or a deemed resident of Luxembourg for at the time of his or her death, the Ordinary Shares or Warrants are included in his taxable estate for inheritance tax assessment purposes. No Luxembourg gift tax will be levied on the transfer of the Ordinary Shares or Warrants by way of gift unless the gift is registered in Luxembourg.

### MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

This section describes the material U.S. federal income tax considerations to beneficial owners relating to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Ordinary Shares and Warrants ("AMPSA Securities"). This discussion applies only to Ordinary Shares and Warrants held as capital assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes (generally, property held for investment) and does not discuss all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that might be relevant to holders in light of their particular circumstances or status, including the Medicare contribution tax on net investment income, or holders who are subject to special rules, including:

- brokers or dealers;
- traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities holdings;
- tax-exempt organizations, qualified retirement plans, individual retirement accounts or other tax deferred accounts;
- banks or other financial institutions, underwriters, insurance companies, real estate investment trusts or regulated investment companies;
- U.S. expatriates or former long-term residents of the United States;
- persons that own (directly, indirectly, or by attribution) 5% or more (by vote or value) of the Ordinary Shares;
- persons holding AMPSA Securities as part of a straddle, hedging or conversion transaction, constructive sale, or other arrangement involving more than one position;
- U.S. holders (as defined below) whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;
- persons that received AMPSA Securities as compensation for services; or
- controlled foreign corporations or passive foreign investment companies.

If a partnership (including any entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds AMPSA Securities, the tax treatment of a partner in such partnership will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partners and partnerships should consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax treatment of holding the AMPSA Securities.

This discussion is based on the Code, its legislative history, existing and proposed Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code (the "Treasury Regulations"), published guidance by the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") and court decisions, all as of the date hereof. These laws are subject to change, possibly on a retroactive basis. This discussion is necessarily general and does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation, including the effect of the U.S. federal alternative minimum tax, or U.S. federal estate and gift tax, or any state, local or non-U.S. tax laws to a holder of AMPSA Securities. AMPSA has not sought and does not intend to seek any rulings from the IRS regarding the AMPSA Securities. There is no assurance that the IRS will not take positions concerning the tax consequences of holding the AMPSA Securities that are different from those discussed below, or that any such different positions would not be sustained by a court.

THE DISCUSSION BELOW IS A GENERAL SUMMARY. IT IS NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR TAX ADVICE. IT DOES NOT COVER ALL TAX MATTERS THAT MAY BE IMPORTANT TO YOU. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF THE U.S. FEDERAL TAX RULES TO THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES AS WELLAS THE STATE, LOCAL, NON-U.S. AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF THE ACQUISITION, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF THE AMPSA SECURITIES.

# U.S. Holders

The section applies to you if you are a U.S. holder. For purposes of this discussion, a U.S. holder means a beneficial owner of AMPSA Securities that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

- an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;
- a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;
- an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or
- a trust if (1) a U.S. court can exercise primary supervision over the trust's administration and one or more U.S. persons are authorized to control all substantial decisions of the trust; or (2) the trust has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury Regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

#### Distributions on Ordinary Shares

Subject to the discussion below under "— Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules," the gross amount of any distribution on Ordinary Shares generally will be taxable to a U.S. holder as ordinary dividend income on the date such distribution is actually or constructively received, but only to the extent that the distribution is paid out of AMPSA's current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles). Because AMPSA does not maintain, nor is it required to maintain, calculations of its earnings and profits under U.S. federal income tax principles, it is expected that any distributions generally will be reported to U.S. holders as dividends. Any such dividends generally will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction allowed to corporations in respect of dividends received from other U.S. corporations.

With respect to non-corporate U.S. holders, dividends will be taxed at the lower applicable long-term capital gains rate (see "— Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition of Ordinary Shares and Warrants" below) if Ordinary Shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States (which they will be if Ordinary Shares are traded on the NYSE) and certain other requirements are met, including that AMPSA is not classified as a passive foreign investment company during the taxable year in which the dividend is paid or the preceding taxable year. There can be no assurance that Ordinary Shares will be considered readily tradable on an established securities market in a given year. U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential availability of the lower rate for any dividends paid with respect to Ordinary Shares.

As discussed in the section of this registration statement captioned "Material Luxembourg Tax Considerations", withholding taxes may be imposed under Luxembourg Law upon dividends paid by AMPSA. Subject to certain conditions and limitations, withholding taxes on dividends paid by AMPSA may be treated as foreign taxes eligible for credit or deduction against a U.S. holder's U.S. federal income tax liability under the U.S. foreign tax credit rules. For purposes of calculating the U.S. foreign tax credit, dividends paid on Ordinary Shares will generally be treated as income from sources outside the United States and will generally constitute passive category income. Treasury Regulations impose additional requirements that must be met for a foreign tax to be creditable, but IRS notices provide temporary relief from certain of these requirements until the date that a notice or other guidance withdrawing or modifying the temporary relief is issued (or any later date specified in such notice or other guidance). The rules governing the U.S. foreign tax credit are complex.

U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the availability of the U.S. foreign tax credit or deduction under their particular circumstances.

Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition of Ordinary Shares and Warrants

Subject to the discussion below under "— Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules," a U.S. holder generally will recognize gain or loss on any sale, exchange, redemption or other taxable disposition of AMPSA Securities in an

amount equal to the difference between (i) the amount realized on the disposition and (ii) such U.S. holder's adjusted tax basis in such securities. Any gain or loss recognized by a U.S. holder on a taxable disposition of AMPSA Securities generally will be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the holder's holding period in such Ordinary Shares or Warrants exceeds one year at the time of the disposition. Preferential tax rates may apply to long-term capital gains of non-corporate U.S. holders (including individuals). The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. Any gain or loss recognized by a U.S. holder on the sale or exchange of AMPSA Securities generally will be treated as U.S. source gain or loss.

### Exercise or Lapse of a Warrant

Subject to the PFIC rules discussed below and except as discussed below with respect to the cashless exercise of a Warrant, a U.S. holder generally will not recognize gain or loss upon the exercise of a Warrant for cash. A U.S. holder's tax basis in an Ordinary Share received upon exercise of the Warrant generally should be an amount equal to the sum of (i) the U.S. holder's tax basis in the Warrant exchanged therefor and (ii) the exercise price. The U.S. holder's holding period for an Ordinary Share received upon exercise of the Warrant will begin on the date following the date of exercise (or possibly the date of exercise) of the Warrant and will not include the period during which the U.S. holder held the Warrant. If a Warrant is allowed to lapse unexercised, a U.S. holder generally will recognize a capital loss equal to such holder's tax basis in the Warrant.

The tax consequences of a cashless exercise of a Warrant are not clear under current U.S. federal income tax law. A cashless exercise may be tax-deferred, either because the exercise is not a realization event or because the exercise is treated as a recapitalization for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In either tax- deferred situation, a U.S. holder's basis in the Ordinary Shares received would equal the holder's basis in the Warrants exercised therefor. If the cashless exercise were treated as not being a realization event, it is unclear whether a U.S. holder's holding period for the Ordinary Shares would be treated as commencing on the date of exercise of the Warrants or the day following the date of exercise of the Warrants. If the cashless exercise were treated as a recapitalization, the holding period of the Ordinary Shares would include the holding period of the Warrants exercised therefor.

It is also possible that a cashless exercise of a Warrant could be treated in part as a taxable exchange in which gain or loss would be recognized. In such event, a U.S. holder would recognize gain or loss with respect to the portion of the exercised Warrants treated as surrendered to pay the exercise price of the Warrants (the "surrendered warrants"). The U.S. holder would recognize capital gain or loss with respect to the surrendered warrants in an amount generally equal to the difference between (i) the fair market value of the Warrants deemed surrendered and (ii) the U.S. holder's tax basis in the surrendered warrants. In this case, a U.S. holder's tax basis in the Ordinary Shares received would equal the U.S. holder's tax basis in the Warrants exercised (meaning, the Warrants disposed of by the U.S. holder in the cashless exercise, other than the surrendered warrants) and the exercise price of such Warrants. It is unclear whether a U.S. holder's holding period for the Ordinary Shares would commence on the date of exercise of the Warrants or the day following the date of exercise of the Warrants

Due to the absence of authority on the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a cashless exercise of warrants, there can be no assurance which, if any, of the alternative tax consequences and holding periods described above would be adopted by the IRS or a court of law. Accordingly, U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of a cashless exercise of Warrants.

## Possible Constructive Distributions

The terms of each Warrant provide for an adjustment to the number of Ordinary Shares for which the Warrant may be exercised or to the exercise price of the Warrant in certain events, as discussed in the section of this registration statement captioned "Description of Securities." An adjustment which has the effect of preventing dilution generally is not taxable. A U.S. holder of a Warrant would, however, be treated as receiving a constructive distribution from AMPSA if, for example, the adjustment increases the holder's proportionate interest in AMPSA's assets or earnings and profits (e.g., through an increase in the number of Ordinary Shares that would be obtained upon exercise of such Warrant) as a result of a distribution of cash to the holders of the Ordinary Shares which is taxable to the U.S. holders of such shares as described under "—Distributions on Ordinary Shares" above. Such constructive distribution would be subject to tax as

described under that section in the same manner as if the U.S. holder of such Warrant received a cash distribution from AMPSA equal to the fair market value of such increased interest.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

The treatment of U.S. holders of the AMPSA Securities could be materially different from that described above if AMPSA is treated as a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A PFIC is any non-U.S. corporation with respect to which either: (i) 75% or more of the gross income for a taxable year constitutes passive income for purposes of the PFIC rules, or (ii) 50% or more of such non-U.S. corporation's assets in any taxable year (generally based on the quarterly average of the value of its assets during such year) is attributable to assets, including cash, that produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income. Passive income generally includes dividends, interest, royalties and certain rents. The determination of whether a non-U.S. corporation is a PFIC is based upon the composition of such non-U.S. corporation's income and assets (including, among others, its proportionate share of the income and assets of any other corporation in which it owns, directly or indirectly, 25% or more (by value) of the stock), and the nature of such non-U.S. corporation's activities. A separate determination must be made after the close of each taxable year as to whether a non-U.S. corporation was a PFIC for that year. Once a non-U.S. corporation qualifies as a PFIC it is, with respect to a shareholder during the time it qualifies as a PFIC, and subject to certain exceptions, always treated as a PFIC with respect to such shareholder, regardless of whether it satisfied either of the qualification tests in subsequent years.

Based on the composition of AMPSA's income and assets (including the income and assets of each subsidiary for which AMPSA owns, directly or indirectly, 25% or more (by value) of its stock), AMPSA does not expect to be classified as a PFIC for its current taxable year or for any taxable year in the foreseeable future. However, the application of the PFIC rules is subject to uncertainty as the composition of AMPSA's income and assets (including the income and assets of its applicable subsidiaries) may change in the future and, therefore, no assurances can be provided that AMPSA will not be a PFIC for the current taxable year or in a future year.

If AMPSA is or becomes a PFIC during any year in which a U.S. holder holds AMPSA Securities and such holder does not make a mark-to-market election, as described below, the U.S. holder will be subject to special tax rules with respect to (i) any gain realized on a sale or other disposition (including a pledge) of its AMPSA Securities, and (ii) any "excess distributions" it receives on its Ordinary Shares (generally, any distributions in excess of 125% of the average of the annual distributions on Ordinary Shares during the preceding three years or the U.S. holder's holding period, whichever is shorter). Generally, under this excess distribution regime:

- the gain or excess distribution will be allocated ratably over the period during which the U.S. holder held its AMPSA Securities;
- the amount allocated to the current taxable year will be treated as ordinary income; and
- the amount allocated to prior taxable years will be subject to the highest tax rate in effect for that taxable year and the interest charge generally applicable to underpayments of tax will be imposed on the resulting tax attributable to each such year.

In lieu of being subject to the special tax rules discussed above with regard to its Ordinary Shares, a U.S. holder may make a mark-to-market election with respect to its Ordinary Shares. A U.S. holder may make a mark-to-market election if such shares are treated as "marketable stock." The Ordinary Shares generally will be treated as marketable stock if they are regularly traded on a national securities exchange that is registered with the SEC, including the NYSE, or on a qualified non-U.S. exchange or other market (within the meaning of the applicable Treasury Regulations). Although the Ordinary Shares are listed on the NYSE, no assurance can be given that the Ordinary Shares will be "regularly traded" for purposes of the mark-to-market election. AMPSA does not intend to provide information necessary for U.S. holders to make a "qualified electing fund" election which, if available, would result in tax treatment different from the general tax treatment for PFICs described above.

If AMPSA is classified as a PFIC for any taxable year, a U.S. holder of Ordinary Shares will be required to file an annual report on IRS Form 8621. Failure to file IRS Form 8621 for each applicable taxable year may result in substantial penalties and result in the U.S. holder's taxable years being open to audit by the IRS until such forms are properly filed.

U.S. holders are urged to consult their tax advisors concerning the U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding AMPSA Securities in the event that AMPSA is considered a PFIC in any taxable year.

#### Additional Reporting Requirements

U.S. holders who are individuals and certain entities will be required to report information with respect to such U.S. holder's investment in "specified foreign financial assets" on IRS Form 8938 (Statement of Specified Foreign Financial Assets), subject to certain exceptions (including an exception for AMPSA Securities held in accounts maintained at certain financial institutions). An interest in AMPSA Securities constitutes a specified foreign financial asset for these purposes. Persons who are required to report specified foreign financial assets and fail to do so may be subject to substantial penalties and the period of limitations on assessment and collection of U.S. federal income taxes will be extended in the event of a failure to comply. U.S. holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the foreign financial asset and other reporting obligations and their application to the ownership and disposition of AMPSA Securities.

### Non-U.S. Holders

The section applies to you if you are a non-U.S. holder. For purposes of this discussion, a "non-U.S. holder" is a beneficial owner (other than a partnership or an entity or arrangement characterized as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of AMPSA Securities that is not a U.S. holder, including a nonresident alien individual (other than certain former citizens and residents of the United States), a non-U.S. corporation, or a non-U.S. estate or trust.

This section generally does not apply to an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in a taxable year. A holder that is such an individual should consult its tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding AMPSA Securities

# Non-U.S. Holders Generally

Since AMPSA is not a U.S. corporation, a non-U.S. holder of Ordinary Shares should not be subject to U.S. federal income tax or, subject to the discussion below under "—Information Reporting and Backup Withholding," U.S. federal withholding tax on any dividends (including constructive dividends) received on AMPSA Securities or any gain recognized on a sale or other disposition of AMPSA Securities (including, any distribution to the extent it exceeds the adjusted basis in the non-U.S. holder's Ordinary Shares) unless such dividend or gain (i) is effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder's conduct of a trade or business in the United States, and (ii) if required by an applicable tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by the non-U.S. holder in the United States.

Any such dividends and gains that are effectively connected with a non-U.S. holder's conduct of a trade or business in the United States (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, are attributable to a permanent establishment or fixed base in the United States) generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the same regular U.S. federal income tax rates applicable to a comparable U.S. holder and, in the case of a corporate non-U.S. holder, also may be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30% rate or a lower applicable tax treaty rate.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a non-U.S. holder's exercise of a Warrant, or the lapse of a Warrant held by a non-U.S. holder, generally will correspond to the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the exercise or lapse of a Warrant held by a U.S. holder, as described under "— U.S. Holders — Exercise or Lapse of a Warrant," above, although to the extent a cashless exercise results in a taxable exchange, the consequences for a non-U.S. holder of recognizing gain in such a taxable exchange would be the same as the consequences of recognizing gain on a sale or other disposition of AMPSA Securities described in the preceding paragraphs above regarding a non-U.S. holder's sale or other disposition of AMPSA Securities.

# Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Payments of dividends and sales proceeds that are made within the United States or through certain U.S.-related financial intermediaries are subject to information reporting, and may be subject to backup withholding. Backup withholding generally will not apply, however, to a U.S. holder if (i) the U.S. holder is an exempt recipient or (ii) in the case of backup withholding, the U.S. holder provides a correct taxpayer identification number and certifies that it is not subject to backup withholding. A non-U.S. holder generally will eliminate the requirement for information reporting and backup withholding by providing certification of its non-U.S. status, under penalties of perjury, on a duly executed applicable IRS Form W-8 or by otherwise establishing an exemption.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a holder will be allowed as a credit against such holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and a holder may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules by timely filing the appropriate claim for a refund with the IRS and furnishing any required information.

### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We are registering the issuance by us of 16,749,984 Ordinary Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of the Warrants at an exercise price of \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustments. We are also registering the resale by the Selling Securityholders from time to time of up to 461,286,233 Ordinary Shares and 3,545,210 Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, which were originally Private Placement Warrants that were automatically converted into Warrants upon consummation of the Merger.

We will receive up to an aggregate of \$192,624,816 if all the Warrants are exercised to the extent such Warrants are exercised for cash. All of the Ordinary Shares and Warrants offered by the Selling Securityholders pursuant to this prospectus will be sold by the Selling Securityholders for their respective amounts. We will not receive any of the proceeds from these sales.

### **Primary Offering**

Pursuant to the terms of the Warrants, the Ordinary Shares will be distributed to those holders who surrender the Warrants and provide payment of the exercise price to us. Upon receipt of proper notice by any of the holders of the Warrants issued that such holder desires to exercise a Warrant, we will, within the time allotted by the agreement governing Warrants, issue the holder Ordinary Shares and issue instructions to our transfer agent to mirror the issuance to the holder, free of a restrictive legend.

# Resale by Selling Securityholders

The Selling Securityholders will pay any underwriting discounts, if applicable (it being understood that the Selling Securityholders shall not be deemed to be underwriters solely as a result of their participation in this offering), and commissions and expenses incurred by the Selling Securityholders for brokerage, accounting, tax or legal services or any other expenses incurred by the Selling Securityholders in disposing of the securities. We will bear all other costs, fees and expenses incurred in effecting the registration of the securities covered by this prospectus, including, without limitation, all registration and filing fees, NYSE listing fees and fees and expenses of our counsel and our independent registered public accountants.

The securities beneficially owned by the Selling Securityholders covered by this prospectus may be offered and sold from time to time by the Selling Securityholders. The term "Selling Securityholders" includes donees, pledgees, transferees or other successors in interest selling securities received after the date of this prospectus from a Selling Securityholder as a gift, pledge, partnership distribution or other transfer. The Selling Securityholders will act independently of us in making decisions with respect to the timing, manner and size of each sale. Such sales may be made on one or more exchanges or in the over-the-counter market or otherwise, at prices and under terms then prevailing or at prices related to the then current market price or in negotiated transactions. Each Selling Securityholder reserves the right to accept and, together with its respective agents, to reject, any proposed purchase of securities to be made directly or through agents. The Selling Securityholders and any of their permitted transferees may sell their securities offered by this prospectus on any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the securities are traded or in private transactions. If underwriters are used in the sale, such underwriters will acquire the shares and/or warrants for their own account. These sales may be at a fixed price or varying prices, which may be changed, or at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices relating to prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices. The securities may be offered to the public through underwriting syndicates represented by managing underwriters or by underwriters without a syndicate. The obligations of the underwriters to purchase the securities will be subject to certain conditions. The underwriters will be obligated to purchase all the securities offered if any of the securities are purchased.

Subject to the limitations set forth in any applicable registration rights agreement, the Selling Securityholders may use any one or more of the following methods when selling the securities offered by this prospectus:

• purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by such broker-dealer for its own account pursuant to this prospectus;

- ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker solicits purchasers;
- block trades in which the broker-dealer so engaged will attempt to sell the securities as agent but may position and resell a portion
  of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction;
- an over-the-counter distribution in accordance with the rules of the NYSE;
- through trading plans entered into by a Selling Securityholder pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act that are in place at
  the time of an offering pursuant to this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement hereto that provide for periodic sales
  of their securities on the basis of parameters described in such trading plans;
- through one or more underwritten offerings on a firm commitment or best efforts basis;
- settlement of short sales entered into after the date of this prospectus;
- agreements with broker-dealers to sell a specified number of the securities at a stipulated price per share and/or warrant;
- in "at the market" offerings, as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act, at negotiated prices, at prices prevailing at the time of
  sale or at prices related to such prevailing market prices, including sales made directly on a national securities exchange or sales
  made through a market maker other than
- on an exchange or other similar offerings through sales agents;
- directly to purchasers, including through a specific bidding, auction or other process or in privately negotiated transactions;
- through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;
- through a combination of any of the above methods of sale; or
- any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.

In addition, a Selling Securityholder that is an entity may in certain circumstances elect to make a pro rata in-kind distribution of securities to its members, partners or stockholders pursuant to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part by delivering a prospectus with a plan of distribution. In appropriate circumstances, such members, partners or stockholders may thereby receive freely tradeable securities. To the extent a distributee is an affiliate of ours (or in other circumstances where prospectus delivery continues to be required by law), we may file a prospectus supplement in order to permit the distributees to use the prospectus to resell the securities acquired in the distribution.

There can be no assurance that the Selling Securityholders will sell all or any of the securities offered by this prospectus. In addition, the Selling Securityholders may also sell securities under Rule 144 under the Securities Act, if available, or in other transactions exempt from registration, rather than under this prospectus. The Selling Securityholders have the sole and absolute discretion not to accept any purchase offer or make any sale of securities if they deem the purchase price to be unsatisfactory at any particular time.

The Selling Securityholders also may transfer the securities in other circumstances, in which case the transferees, pledgees or other successors-in-interest will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus. Upon being notified by a Selling Securityholder that a donee, pledgee, transferee, other successor- in-interest intends to sell our securities, we will, to the extent required, promptly file a supplement to this prospectus to name specifically such person as a selling securityholder.

### **Table of Contents**

With respect to a particular offering of the securities held by the Selling Securityholders, to the extent required, an accompanying prospectus supplement or, if appropriate, a post-effective amendment to the registration statement of which this prospectus is part, will be prepared and will set forth the following information:

- the specific securities to be offered and sold;
- the names of the selling securityholders;
- the respective purchase prices and public offering prices, the proceeds to be received from the sale, if any, and other material terms
  of the offering;
- settlement of short sales entered into after the date of this prospectus;
- · the names of any participating agents, broker-dealers or underwriters; and
- any applicable commissions, discounts, concessions and other items constituting compensation from the selling securityholders.

In connection with distributions of the securities or otherwise, the Selling Securityholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions. In connection with such transactions, broker-dealers or other financial institutions may engage in short sales of the securities in the course of hedging the positions they assume with Selling Securityholders. The Selling Securityholders may also sell the securities short and redeliver the securities to close out such short positions. The Selling Securityholders may also enter into option or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions which require the delivery to such broker-dealer or other financial institution of securities offered by this prospectus, which securities such broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction). The Selling Securityholders may also pledge securities to a broker-dealer or other financial institution, and, upon a default, such broker-dealer or other financial institution, may effect sales of the pledged securities pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction).

In order to facilitate the offering of the securities, any underwriters or agents, as the case may be, involved in the offering of such securities may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of our securities. Specifically, the underwriters or agents, as the case may be, may overallot in connection with the offering, creating a short position in our securities for their own account. In addition, to cover overallotments or to stabilize the price of our securities, the underwriters or agents, as the case may be, may bid for, and purchase, such securities in the open market. Finally, in any offering of securities through a syndicate of underwriters, the underwriting syndicate may reclaim selling concessions allotted to an underwriter or a broker-dealer for distributing such securities in the offering if the syndicate repurchases previously distributed securities in transactions to cover syndicate short positions, in stabilization transactions or otherwise. Any of these activities may stabilize or maintain the market price of the securities above independent market levels. The underwriters or agents, as the case may be, are not required to engage in these activities, and may end any of these activities at any time.

The Selling Securityholders may solicit offers to purchase the securities directly from, and it may sell such securities directly to, institutional investors or others. In this case, no underwriters or agents would be involved. The terms of any of those sales, including the terms of any bidding or auction process, if utilized, will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

It is possible that one or more underwriters may make a market in our securities, but such underwriters will not be obligated to do so and may discontinue any market making at any time without notice. We cannot give any assurance as to the liquidity of the trading market for our securities. Our Ordinary Shares and Warrants are currently listed on the NYSE under the symbols "AMBP" and "AMBP.WS," respectively.

The Selling Securityholders may authorize underwriters, broker-dealers or agents to solicit offers by certain purchasers to purchase the securities at the public offering price set forth in the prospectus supplement pursuant to delayed delivery contracts providing for payment and delivery on a specified date in the future. The contracts will be subject only to those conditions set forth in the prospectus supplement, and the prospectus supplement will set forth any commissions we or the Selling Securityholders pay for solicitation of these contracts.

A Selling Securityholder may enter into derivative transactions with third parties, or sell securities not covered by this prospectus to third parties in privately negotiated transactions. If the applicable prospectus supplement indicates, in connection with those derivatives, the third parties may sell securities covered by this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, including in short sale transactions. If so, the third party may use securities pledged by any Selling Securityholder or borrowed from any Selling Securityholder or others to settle those sales or to close out any related open borrowings of stock, and may use securities received from any Selling Securityholder in settlement of those derivatives to close out any related open borrowings of stock. The third party in such sale transactions will be an underwriter and will be identified in the applicable prospectus supplement (or a post-effective amendment). In addition, any Selling Securityholder may otherwise loan or pledge securities to a financial institution or other third party that in turn may sell the securities short using this prospectus. Such financial institution or other third party may transfer its economic short position to investors in our securities or in connection with a concurrent offering of other securities.

In effecting sales, broker-dealers or agents engaged by the Selling Securityholders may arrange for other broker-dealers to participate. Broker-dealers or agents may receive commissions, discounts or concessions from the Selling Securityholders in amounts to be negotiated immediately prior to the sale.

In compliance with the guidelines of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"), the aggregate maximum discount, commission, fees or other items constituting underwriting compensation to be received by any FINRA member or independent broker-dealer will not exceed 8% of the gross proceeds of any offering pursuant to this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement.

If at the time of any offering made under this prospectus a member of FINRA participating in the offering has a "conflict of interest" as defined in FINRA Rule 5121 ("Rule 5121"), that offering will be conducted in accordance with the relevant provisions of Rule 5121.

To our knowledge, there are currently no plans, arrangements or understandings between the Selling Securityholders and any broker-dealer or agent regarding the sale of the securities by the Selling Securityholders. Upon our notification by a Selling Securityholder that any material arrangement has been entered into with an underwriter or broker-dealer for the sale of securities through a block trade, special offering, exchange distribution, secondary distribution or a purchase by an underwriter or broker-dealer, we will file, if required by applicable law or regulation, a supplement to this prospectus pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act disclosing certain material information relating to such underwriter or broker-dealer and such offering.

Underwriters, broker-dealers or agents may facilitate the marketing of an offering online directly or through one of their affiliates. In those cases, prospective investors may view offering terms and a prospectus online and, depending upon the particular underwriter, broker-dealer or agent, place orders online or through their financial advisors.

In offering the securities covered by this prospectus, if any of the Selling Securityholders or any underwriters, broker-dealers or agents who execute sales for the Selling Securityholders are deemed to be "underwriters" within the meaning of the Securities Act in connection with such sales, any discounts, commissions, concessions or profit they earn on any resale of those securities may be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act.

The underwriters, broker-dealers and agents may engage in transactions with us or the Selling Securityholders, or perform services for us or the Selling Securityholders, in the ordinary course of business.

### **Table of Contents**

In order to comply with the securities laws of certain states, if applicable, the securities must be sold in such jurisdictions only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In addition, in certain states the securities may not be sold unless they have been registered or qualified for sale in the applicable state or an exemption from the registration or qualification requirement is available and is complied with.

The Selling Securityholders and any other persons participating in the sale or distribution of the securities will be subject to applicable provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder, including, without limitation, Regulation M. These provisions may restrict certain activities of, and limit the timing of purchases and sales of any of the securities by, the Selling Securityholders or any other person, which limitations may affect the marketability of the shares of the securities.

We will make copies of this prospectus available to the Selling Securityholders for the purpose of satisfying the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. The Selling Securityholders may indemnify any agent, broker-dealer or underwriter that participates in transactions involving the sale of the securities against certain liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

We have agreed to indemnify the Selling Securityholders against certain liabilities, including certain liabilities under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or other federal or state law. Agents, broker-dealers and underwriters may be entitled to indemnification by us and the Selling Securityholders against certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribution with respect to payments which the agents, broker-dealers or underwriters may be required to make in respect thereof.

# EXPENSES RELATED TO THE OFFERING

Set forth below is an itemization of the total expenses that are expected to be incurred by us in connection with the offering. We will pay the expenses associated with the sale of Ordinary Shares pursuant to this prospectus, other than underwriting commissions and discounts and expenses incurred by the Selling Securityholders for brokerage, accounting, tax or legal services or any other expenses incurred by the Selling Securityholders in disposing of the securities. With the exception of the SEC registration fee, all amounts are estimates.

	\$
SEC Registration Fee*	735,107.63
Legal Fees and Expenses	100,000
Accounting Fees and Expenses	40,000
Printing Expenses	14,000
Transfer Agent Expenses	2,100
Miscellaneous Expenses	5,000
Total	896,207.63

<sup>\*</sup> The registration fee was previously paid in connection with our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-258749), initially filed with the SEC on August 12, 2021, and declared effective on August 19, 2021. No additional registration fee is due with our Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants.

# LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the Ordinary Shares and certain matters related to the assumption of Warrants has been passed upon by Elvinger Hoss Prussen, *société anonyme*, 2, place Winston Churchill, L-1340 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, Luxembourg counsel to the Company. The validity of the Warrants has been passed upon by Allen Overy Shearman Sterling US LLP, New York, NY. We have been advised on U.S. securities matters by Allen Overy Shearman Sterling US LLP, New York, NY.

# INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

None.

# **EXPERTS**

The financial statements and management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting (which is included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting) incorporated in this Prospectus by reference to the <u>Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2024</u> have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

# WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the periodic reporting and other information requirements of the Exchange Act as applicable to a "foreign private issuer," and we will file annual reports and other information from time to time with the SEC in accordance with such requirements. Our SEC filings will be available to the public on the internet at a website maintained by the SEC located at www.sec.gov.

We also maintain an Internet website at https://ir.ardaghmetalpackaging.com. We will make available, free of charge, the following documents as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC: our annual reports on Form 20-F; our reports on Form 6-K; amendments to these documents; and other information as may be required by the SEC. The information contained on, or that may be accessed through, our website is not part of, and is not incorporated into, this prospectus.

### INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference in this prospectus the information we file with it, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus. Any statement made in this prospectus or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus will be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in this prospectus, the accompanying prospectus supplement, if applicable, or in any other subsequently filed document that is also incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus modifies or supersedes that statement. Any statement so modified or superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this prospectus. Therefore, before you decide to invest in a particular offering under this shelf registration statement, you should always check for reports we may have filed with the SEC after the date of this prospectus. We incorporate by reference in this prospectus the following information:

- our 2024 Form 20-F;
- the description of the securities contained in our registration statement on Form 8-A filed on August 4, 2021 pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, together with all amendments and reports filed for the purpose of updating that description;
- our reports on Form 6-K furnished on February 27, 2025 (Film Number: 25674913), February 27, 2025 (Film Number: 25674993), April 7, 2025, April 15, 2025 (Exhibit 99.1 only), April 24, 2025 (Film Number: 25865007), April 24, 2025 (Film Number: 25865012), May 20, 2025, May 27, 2025, July 24, 2025 (Film Number: 251144894), July 24, 2025 (Film Number: 251144904) and July 28, 2025.

All subsequent annual reports on Form 20-F that we file with the SEC prior to the completion or termination of this offering shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference to this prospectus and to be a part hereof from the date of filing of such documents. We may also incorporate by reference part or all of any reports on Form 6-K that we subsequently furnish to the SEC prior to the completion or termination of this offering by identifying in such Forms 6-K that they, or certain parts of their contents, are as being incorporated by reference into this prospectus and any Forms 6-K so identified shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus and to be a part of this prospectus from the date of submission of such documents. Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. Any such statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this prospectus.

The information we incorporate by reference is an important part of this prospectus, and later information that we file with the SEC will automatically update and supersede the information contained in this prospectus.

You should not assume that the information in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement or any document incorporated by reference is accurate or complete at any date other than the date mentioned on the cover page of those documents or otherwise specified therein.

We file reports, including annual reports on Form 20-F and reports on Form 6-K, with the SEC pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC that apply to foreign private issuers. You can read our SEC filings, including the registration statement, over the internet at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov and at our website at https://ir.ardaghmetalpackaging.com. We do not incorporate the information contained on, or accessible through, the Company's websites into this prospectus, and you should not consider it as a part of this prospectus.

You may request a copy of any and all of the information that has been incorporated by reference in this prospectus but not delivered with the prospectus, at no cost, upon written or oral request made to Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg, Tel: +352 26 25 85 55; Attention: Company Secretary.

# PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

#### Item 8. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Article 441-8 of the 1915 Law provides that the directors shall not incur any personal obligation by reason of the commitments of the company.

Article 441-9 of the 1915 Law provides that the directors, the members of the management committee and the managing executive officer shall be liable to the company in accordance with general law for the execution of the management of them and for any misconduct in the management of the company's affairs. The directors and members of the management committee shall be jointly and severally liable towards either the company or any third parties for damages resulting from this violation of the 1915 Law or the company's articles of association. The directors and members of the management committee shall be discharged from such liability in the case of a violation to which they were not a party provided no misconduct is attributable to them and they have reported such violation, as regards members of the Board, to the first general meeting and, as regards members of the management committee, during the first meeting of the Board after they had acquired knowledge thereof.

Under Luxembourg Law the directors of AMPSA are not held personally liable for the indebtedness or other obligations of AMPSA. As agents of AMPSA, they are responsible for the performance of their duties. Subject to the exceptions and limitations listed in the Articles and mandatory provisions of law, every person who is, or has been, a director or officer of AMPSA (and his or her heirs, executors and administrators) shall be indemnified by AMPSA to the fullest extent permitted by law against liability and against all expenses reasonably incurred or paid by such person in connection with any claim, action, suit or proceeding which he becomes involved as a party or otherwise by virtue of his or her being or having been a director or officer of AMPSA, or, at the request of AMPSA, of any other company of which AMPSA is a shareholder or creditor and by which he is not entitled to be indemnified, and against amounts paid or incurred by him or her in the settlement thereof. The words "claim", "action", "suit" or "proceeding" shall apply to all claims, actions, suits or proceedings (civil, criminal or otherwise including appeals) actual or threatened and the words "liability" and "expenses" shall include without limitation attorneys' fees, costs, judgments, amounts paid in settlement and other liabilities. However, no indemnification shall be provided to any director, officer or shareholder of AMPSA (i) against any liability by reason of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of his or her office (ii) with respect to any matter as to which he or she shall have been finally adjudicated to have acted in bad faith and not in the interest of AMPSA or (iii) in the event of a settlement, unless the settlement has been approved by a court of competent jurisdiction or by the Board.

The Articles provide that the right of indemnification provided by the Articles shall be severable, shall not affect any other rights to which any director or officer may now or hereafter be entitled, shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be such director or officer and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person. Nothing contained in the Articles shall affect or limit any rights to indemnification to which corporate personnel, including directors and officers, may be entitled by contract or otherwise under law. AMPSA shall specifically be entitled to provide contractual indemnification to and may purchase and maintain insurance for any corporate personnel, including directors and officers of AMPSA, as AMPSA may decide upon from time to time.

In connection with the Business Combination, AMPSA entered into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and executive officers. These agreements provide that AMPSA will indemnify each of its directors and such officers to the fullest extent permitted by law.

AMPSA also maintains a general liability insurance policy, which covers certain liabilities of directors and officers of AMPSA arising out of claims based on acts or omissions in their capacities as directors or officers.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

# Item 9. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit Number	Description
2.1#	Second Amendment, effective as of May 18, 2021, to the Business Combination Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2021, as amended on March 5, 2021, by and among Gores Holdings V, Inc., Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., Ardagh Group S.A. and Ardagh MP MergeCo Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the Registration Statement on Form F-4/A filed June 1, 2021 (File No. 333-254005)).
2.2#	Exhibit A to Second Amendment (Business Combination Agreement, as amended and restated) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3(a) to the Registration Statement on Form F-4/A filed June 1, 2021 (File No. 333-254005)).
4.1	Articles of Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F filed March 4, 2025 (File No. 001-40709)).
4.2†	Specimen Share Certificate of Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A.
4.3	Specimen Warrant Certificate of Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement on Form F-4/A filed June 1, 2021 (File No. 333-254005)).
4.4	Senior Secured Indenture, dated as of March 12, 2021, by and among Ardagh Metal Packaging Finance USA LLC, Ardagh Metal Packaging Finance plc, Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., Citibank, N.A., London Branch, and Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form F-4/A filed April 9, 2021 (File No. 333-254005)).
4.5	Senior Indenture, dated as of March 12, 2021, by and among Ardagh Metal Packaging Finance USA LLC, Ardagh Metal Packaging Finance plc, Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., Citibank, N.A., London Branch, and Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement on Form F-4/A filed April 9, 2021 (File No. 333-254005)).
4.6	Senior Secured Indenture, dated as of June 8, 2022, by and among Ardagh Metal Packaging Finance plc, Ardagh Metal Packaging Finance USA LLC, Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., Citibank N.A., London Branch and Citibank Europe plc (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 on Form F-3 filed on August 8, 2022, to the Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed on August 12, 2021 (File No. 333-258749).
4.7	Warrant Agreement, dated as of August 10, 2020, by and between Gores Holdings V, Inc. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registration Statement on Form F-4 filed March 8, 2021 (File No. 333-254005)).
4.8	Warrant Assignment, Assumption and Amendment Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2021, by and among Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., Gores Holdings V, Inc. Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.5 to the Shell Company Report on Form 20-F filed August 10, 2021 (File No. 001-40709)).
4.9	Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2021, by and among Ardagh Group S.A., Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., Gores Holdings V Sponsor LLC and certain persons associated with Gores Holdings V Sponsor LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Shell Company Report on Form 20-F filed August 10, 2021 (File No. 001-40709)).

Exhibit Number	Description
5.1*	Legal Opinion of Elvinger Hoss Prussen.
5.2*	Legal Opinion of Allen Overy Shearman Sterling US LLP.
23.1*	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers.
23.2*	Consent of Elvinger Hoss Prussen (included in Exhibit 5.1).
23.3*	Consent of Allen Overy Shearman Sterling US LLP (included in Exhibit 5.2).
24.1	Powers of Attorney (included on the signature page hereto).
107*	Filing Fee Table

Filed herewith.

## Item 10. Undertakings

# A. AMPSA hereby undertakes:

- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
  - (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act.
  - (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) that, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement.
  - (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

provided, however, that paragraphs (a)(1)(i), (a)(1)(ii) and (a)(1)(iii) of this section do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the SEC by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post- effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating

Certain schedules, annexes and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K, but will be furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.

<sup>†</sup> Ordinary Shares are in uncertificated form. Therefore AMPSA is not filing a specimen certificate evidencing Ordinary Shares.

- to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (4) To file a post-effective amendment to the registration statement to include any financial statements required by Item 8.A of Form 20-F at the start of any delayed offering or throughout a continuous offering. Financial statements and information otherwise required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act need not be furnished; provided, that the registrant includes in the prospectus, by means of a post-effective amendment, financial statements required pursuant to this paragraph and other information necessary to ensure that all other information in the prospectus is at least as current as the date of those financial statements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a post-effective amendment need not be filed to include financial statements and information required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act or Item 8.A of Form 20-F if such financial statements and information are contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Exchange Act that are incorporated by reference in the Form F-3; and
- (5) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser:
  - (i) if the registrant is relying on Rule 430B:
    - (A) each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and
    - (B) each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by section 10(a) of the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof; provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date;
  - (ii) if the registrant is subject to 430C, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A (§ 230.430A of this chapter), shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use; and

(6) that, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities:

The undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

- Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
- (ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
- (iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and
- (iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.
- **B.** AMPSA hereby undertakes: that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

# **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form F-3 and has duly caused this registrations statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg on July 31, 2025.

# Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A.

By: /s/ Stefan Schellinger
Name: Stefan Schellinger
Title: Chief Financial Officer

# POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each of the undersigned individuals hereby severally constitutes and appoints each of Oliver Graham, Stefan Schellinger and Herman Troskie and any one or more of them as the attorney-in-fact and agent for the undersigned, in any and all capacities, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to sign any and all pre- or post-effective amendments to this registration statement, any subsequent registration statement for the same offering which may be filed pursuant to Rule 462 under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any and all pre- or post-effective amendments thereto, and to file the same with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Oliver Graham Oliver Graham	Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)	July 31, 2025
/s/ Stefan Schellinger Stefan Schellinger	Chief Financial Officer and Director (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	July 31, 2025
/s/ Herman Troskie Herman Troskie	Chair	July 31, 2025
/s/ Paul Coulson Paul Coulson	Director	July 31, 2025
/s/ Abigail Blunt Abigail Blunt	Non-Executive Director	July 31, 2025
/s/ Yves Elsen Yves Elsen	Non-Executive Director	July 31, 2025
/s/ Elizabeth Marcellino Elizabeth Marcellino	Non-Executive Director	July 31, 2025
/s/ Damien O'Brien Damien O'Brien	Non-Executive Director	July 31, 2025
/s/ The Rt. Hon. the Lord Hammond of Runnymede The Rt. Hon. the Lord Hammond of Runnymede	Non-Executive Director	July 31, 2025

# AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 6(a) of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed on behalf of the registrant by the undersigned, solely in his capacity as the duly authorized representative of the registrant in the United States, on July 31, 2025.

By: /s/ Donald J. Puglisi

Name: Donald J. Puglisi



Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A.

Société anonyme 56, rue Charles Martel L-2134 Luxembourg Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

(the "Addressee" and "Company")

Luxembourg, 31 July 2025

O/Ref.: KPA/CIB/PSK

Re: Legal Opinion – Form F-3 Registration Statement

Ladies and Gentlemen,

- 1. We have acted as Luxembourg counsel to the Company, a *société anonyme* organised under the laws of Luxembourg with registered office at 56, rue Charles Martel, L-2134 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, registered with the *Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés* in Luxembourg (the "RCS") under number B 251.465, in connection with the registration statement on Form F-3 to be filed on 31 July 2025 (the "Registration Statement") with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") pursuant to the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") relating to the registration of:
- (i) the 461,286,233 shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 each which represent currently issued ordinary shares by the Company registered under the Registration Statement (each an "Existing Share" and together the "Existing Shares") and
- (ii) the up to 16,749,984 new shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 each (each a "Warrant Share" and together the "Warrant Shares") that may be issued by the Company in the future upon the exercise of the following warrants converted in accordance with the SPAC Warrant Amendment (as defined below):
  - (a) 6,250,000 warrants previously issued to Gores Sponsor V LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (collectively, the "**Private Warrants**"), to purchase shares of Gores Holdings V, Inc.'s, a Delaware corporation (the "**SPAC**") common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share ("**Common Stock**"), simultaneously with the closing of the SPAC's initial public offering (the "**Public Offering**") (including the partial exercise of the

ELVINGER HOSS PRUSSEN, société anonyme | Registered with the Luxembourg Bar | RCS Luxembourg B 209469 | VAT LU28861577 2, place Winston Churchill | B.P. 425 | L-2014 Luxembourg | Tel: +352 44 66 440 | Fax: +352 44 22 55 | www.elvingerhoss.lu

underwriters' over-allotment option), with each Private Warrant being exercisable for one share of Common Stock and with an exercise price of \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustments, and

- (b) 10,499,984 warrants previously issued to public investors in the Public Offering (collectively, the "**Public Warrants**" together with the Private Warrants, the "**Warrants**") to purchase shares of Common Stock, with each Public Warrant being exercisable for one share of Common Stock and with an exercise price of \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustments.
- 2. For the purpose of this opinion, we have reviewed the following documents:
- 2.1 a copy of an executed version of a State of New York law governed warrant agreement dated 10 August 2020 between the SPAC as issuer of warrants (the "SPAC Warrants") and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company ("Continental") as warrant agent (the "SPAC Warrant Agreement");
- 2.2 an e-mail scanned executed copy of an assignment, assumption and amendment agreement between the Company, the SPAC and Continental amending the terms of the SPAC Warrants (the "SPAC Warrant Amendment" and together with the SPAC Warrant Agreement, the "Warrant Agreements") pursuant to which each Warrant that was outstanding immediately prior to the Merger Effective Time (as this term is defined in a State of Delaware law governed business combination agreement (the "Business Combination Agreement") dated 22 February 2021 and entered into between, among others, the Company, the SPAC and Ardagh MP MergeCo Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Delaware Sub") as amended and restated pursuant to the amendment to business combination agreements dated 5 March 2021 and 18 May 2021) ceased to represent a right to acquire the number of shares of SPAC Class A Common Stock set forth in such SPAC Warrant and was converted in accordance with the terms of such SPAC Warrant Amendment, at the Merger Effective Time, into a right to acquire one Warrant Share in the Company on substantially the same terms (but with such changes as introduced by the SPAC Warrant Amendment) as were in effect immediately prior to the Merger Effective Time under the terms of the SPAC Warrant Agreement;
- 2.3 an e-mailed copy of the Registration Statement dated 31 July 2025;

- 2.4 an e-mailed copy of an executed version of the extract of the resolutions of the board of directors of the Company (the "Board of Directors") held on 22 February 2021 and dated 18 March 2021 approving inter alia the issuance of certain Existing Shares and the issuance of the Warrants (the "Extract of the Resolutions");
- an e-mailed copy of an executed version of the minutes of the extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of the Company dated 8 July 2022 (the "EGM");
- 2.6 the notarial deed of record recording the issuance of certain preferred shares in the Company dated 11 July 2022 (the "Deed of Record");
- 2.7 an email scanned copy of the Company's consolidated articles of association (statuts) dated 11 December 2024 (the "Consolidated Articles");
- 2.8 a copy of the (Luxembourg) register of registered shares of the Company dated 2 July 2025 and showing the issue of the Existing Shares (the "Register");
- an electronic certificat de non-inscription d'une décision judiciaire ou de dissolution administrative sans liquidation (certificate as to the non-inscription of a court decision or administrative dissolution without liquidation) issued by the insolvency register (Registre de l'insolvabilité) (Reginsol) held and maintained by the RCS dated 31 July 2025 (the "Certificate") certifying that as of 31 July 2025 no Luxembourg court decision as to inter alia the faillite, sursis de paiement, réorganisation judiciaire, liquidation judiciaire, or procedure of dissolution administrative sans liquidation or foreign court decision as to faillite, concordat or other analogous procedures which have to be filed with the RCS in accordance with the law of 19 December 2002 on, inter alia, the RCS (the "Fileable Foreign Proceedings") have been filed with the RCS in respect of the Company; and
- an electronic excerpt issued by the RCS in relation to the Company dated 31 July 2025 (the "Excerpt").

The documents listed under paragraphs 2.1 through 2.10 are hereinafter referred to as the "Documents".

Except for the Documents, we have not, for the purposes of this opinion, examined any other document even if referred to or annexed as schedules or exhibits to the Documents and entered into by or affecting the Company.

3. We have made an enquiry in relation to the Company on the website of the RCS on 31 July 2025 at 9:00 a.m. (CET) as to whether a faillite (bankruptcy), sursis de paiement (suspension of payments), réorganisation judiciaire (judicial reorganisation), liquidation judiciaire (compulsory liquidation) rulings, a decision of liquidation volontaire (voluntary liquidation), a procedure of dissolution administrative sans liquidation (administrative dissolution without liquidation) or Fileable Foreign Proceedings, or a decision appointing an administrateur provisoire (interim administrator) or a mandataire de justice (court-appointed agent) have been filed with the RCS with respect to the Company (the "Search"). At the time of the Search, no court ruling declaring the Company subject to faillite (bankruptcy), sursis de paiement (suspension of payments), liquidation judiciaire (compulsory liquidation), réorganisation judiciaire (judicial reorganisation) or appointing an administrateur provisoire (interim administrative) or a mandataire de justice (court-appointed agent), and no Fileable Foreign Proceedings or decision of liquidation volontaire (voluntary liquidation) or procedure of dissolution administrative sans liquidation (administrative dissolution without liquidation) were on file with the RCS. The Search is subject to disclaimers on the RCS website, and does not reveal whether any such court ruling has been rendered, any such proceedings or Fileable Foreign Proceedings commenced or decision taken which has not yet been registered or filed or does not yet appear on the RCS website, or whether steps have been taken to declare the Company subject to any of the above proceedings or to decide a liquidation volontaire (voluntary liquidation) or a dissolution administrative sans liquidation (administrative dissolution without liquidation), and the results of the Search set out in this paragraph are qualified accordingly.

We have not made any enquiries or searches (whether within this firm or otherwise) except as set forth above.

4. The present opinion relates only to the laws of Luxembourg as they are in force and are construed at the date hereof in prevailing published court precedents. We neither express nor imply any view or opinion on and/or in respect of the laws of any jurisdiction other than Luxembourg, and have made no investigation on any other law (including without limitation the laws or acts referred to in the Documents (other than Luxembourg law)) which may be relevant to any of the Documents submitted to us or the opinions herein contained. We express no opinion as to any matter of fact or the accuracy of any financial calculation or determination.

- 5. For the purpose of rendering this opinion, we have assumed and have not verified independently:
- (i) that each signature (whether manuscript or electronic) is the genuine signature of the individual concerned and was affixed or inserted by such individual concerned or authorised to be inserted in the relevant document by the individual concerned;
- (ii) that copy documents or the forms of documents provided to us are true copies of, or in the final form of, the originals;
- (iii) the legal capacity and legal right under all relevant laws and regulations of all individuals signing the Warrant Agreements or who give information on which we rely;
- (iv) that each person expressed to be a party to the Warrant Agreements (other than the Company) is duly incorporated and organised, validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and/or the jurisdiction of its principal place of business and/or its central administration, and is fully qualified, licensed and empowered to own its assets and carry on its business in each jurisdiction in which it owns assets and carries on business;
- (v) that the Warrant Agreements are within the capacity and powers of, and have been validly authorised, executed and delivered by or on behalf of all relevant parties (other than the Company) and constitute the legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations of all relevant parties in accordance with its terms under all applicable laws;
- (vi) that all authorisations and consents of any country (other than the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg) which may be required in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of the Warrant Agreements have been or will be obtained;
- (vii) that the Excerpt and the Certificate are correct, complete and up-to-date;
- (viii) that the Extract of the Resolutions is a true record of the proceedings described therein, that the Extract of the Resolutions accurately reflects the resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company validly approved at a quorate meeting which has been duly convened and remains in full force and effect without modification;

- (ix) that the EGM reflects resolutions of the shareholders of the Company that have been duly passed, are accurate, complete, have not been amended or rescinded and are in full force and effect;
- (x) that the Deed of Record is up-to-date, accurate, complete, has not been amended or rescinded and is in full force and effect;
- (xi) that the Consolidated Articles are complete and accurate and have not been amended or rescinded and are in full force and
  effect;
- (xii) that the Register is complete, accurate and up to date;
- (xiii) that there are and have been no dealings between the parties which affect the Warrant Agreements;
- (xiv) that the Company derives an economic and commercial benefit (*intérêt social*) from the entering into and performance of the Warrant Agreements;
- (xv) that there are no provisions of the laws of any jurisdiction outside Luxembourg which would have a negative impact on the opinions we express in this legal opinion. Specifically, we have made no independent investigation of the laws of the State of Delaware or the State of New York;
- (xvi) that none of the parties to the Warrant Agreements has acted or will act with a view to defraud third parties' (including creditors') rights;
- (xvii) that the Warrant Agreements have the same meaning under the laws by which it is governed as it would have if it were interpreted under Luxembourg law by a Luxembourg court;
- (xviii) that the Company has its central administration, within the meaning of the Luxembourg law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended and the centre of its main interests, within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2015/848 of 20 May 2015 on insolvency proceedings (recast), in Luxembourg; and
- (xix) that the merger between the Delaware Sub as absorbed company and the SPAC as absorbing company is effective in accordance with the Business Combination Agreement and the applicable laws and regulations of the State of Delaware.

- 6. Based on the Documents and subject to the above as well as the reservations set out below and to any matters or documents not disclosed to us, we are of the following opinion:
  - 6.1 The Company is a public limited liability company (société anonyme) incorporated and existing under the laws of Luxembourg. The Consolidated Articles currently provide for an unlimited duration.
  - 6.2. The Existing Shares have been validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable (which term when used herein means that no further sums are required to be paid to the Company by the holders thereof in connection with the issue of the Existing Shares).
  - 6.3. The Company has the corporate authority to enter into and execute the SPAC Warrant Amendment and has authorised and approved the entering into and the execution of the SPAC Warrant Amendment.
  - 6.4. The Warrant Shares subscribed and issued in accordance with the Warrant Agreements and the Registration Statement following exercise of the Warrants (if and when exercised in accordance with their terms under the Warrant Agreements), will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable (which term when used herein means that no further sums are required to be paid to the Company by the holders thereof in connection with the issue of the Warrant Shares).
  - 7. This opinion is subject to the following qualifications:
  - 7.1. The opinions stated herein are subject to all limitations resulting from any laws from time to time in effect relating to *faillite* (bankruptcy), *sursis de paiement* (suspension of payments), *réorganisation judiciaire* (judicial reorganisation), liquidation, suretyship and all other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally.
  - 7.2. Our opinion as to the existence of the Company is based solely on the Search, the Consolidated Articles, the Excerpt and the Certificate.
  - 7.3. The corporate or other documents (including, but not limited to, the notice of a bankruptcy or liquidation ruling or a dissolution resolution, the notice of the appointment of an insolvency receiver or liquidator or other similar officer) of

- or with respect to the Company may not be held at the RCS immediately and there may be a delay in the relevant document appearing on the file of the Company.
- 7.4. Other than expressly opined on herein (and subject to the assumptions and reservations herein), we express no opinion on the accuracy of, nor whether any party has complied with, any representations, warranty, covenant or undertakings made by or concerning any party to the Documents save and insofar as the matters warranted are the subject matter of specific opinions herein.
- 7.5. Other than expressly opined on herein (and subject to the assumptions and reservations herein), we express no opinion on the validity or enforceability against all relevant parties of the Registration Statement in accordance with their respective terms under all relevant laws.
- 7.6. We express no opinion on taxation, accounting or regulatory matters.
- 7.7. We express no opinion on any documents referred to in the Registration Statement, but not specifically examined by us.
- 7.8. The admissibility in evidence of the Registration Statement before a Luxembourg court or another Luxembourg public authority (autorité constituée) may require a complete or partial translation of the Registration Statement into French or German.

- This opinion is given on the basis that there will be no amendments to or termination or replacement of any of the documents, authorisations and consents referred to above. This opinion is governed by and based upon Luxembourg laws in existence as at the date hereof and as applied by the Luxembourg courts, published and presently in effect. We undertake no responsibility to notify the Addressee of this opinion of any change in the laws of Luxembourg or their construction or application after the date of this opinion. This opinion is strictly limited to the matters stated herein and does not extend to, and is not to be read as extending by implication to, any other matters. In this opinion Luxembourg legal concepts are translated into English terms and not in their original French terms used in Luxembourg laws. The concepts concerned may not be identical to the concepts described by the same English terms as they exist under the laws of other jurisdictions. This opinion is governed by Luxembourg law and the Luxembourg courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction thereon.
- It is understood that this opinion is to be used solely in connection with the filing of the Registration Statement. This opinion may not be relied upon for any other purpose without our prior written consent.
- 10. We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion as Exhibit 5.1 to the report on Form F-3 filed by the Company and incorporated by reference into the Registration Statement and to the use of our name in the Registration Statement under the heading "Legal Matters", as Luxembourg counsel for the Company. In giving this consent, we do not thereby admit that we are experts with respect to any part of the Registration Statement, including this Exhibit, within the meaning of the term "expert" as used in the Securities Act or the rules and regulations of the Commission referred to thereunder.

Yours sincerely,

**ELVINGER HOSS PRUSSEN** société anonyme

/s/ Karl Pardaens Karl Pardaens

Partner

### A&O SHEARMAN

599 Lexington Avenue New York, NY 10022-6069 +1.212.848.4000

July 31, 2025

Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A. 56, rue Charles Martel L-2134 Luxembourg, Luxembourg

Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A.

Registration Statement on Form F-3

#### Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as United States counsel to Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A., a public limited liability company (*société anonyme*) incorporated and existing under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg (the "Company" or "AMPSA"), in connection with the Registration Statement on Form F-3, filed by AMPSA with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") on July 31, 2025 (as amended, the "Registration Statement"), relating to (i) the registration of 16,749,984 shares of AMPSA, with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 per share (each, an "Ordinary Share") that may be issued upon exercise of Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares and (ii) the registration for resale by the selling securityholders named in the Registration Statement of (A) up to 461,286,233 Ordinary Shares and (B) up to 3,545,210 Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, which were originally Private Placement Warrants that were automatically converted into Warrants upon consummation of the Merger (the "Opinion Warrants"). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have their meanings assigned to such terms in the Registration Statement.

The Warrants, including the Opinion Warrants, are governed by the Warrant Agreement, dated August 10, 2020, between Gores Holdings V, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("GHV"), and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, a New York corporation, pursuant to which the original warrants of GHV (the "GHV Warrants") were issued (the "Original Warrant Agreement"), as modified by the Warrant Assignment, Assumption and Amendment Agreement (the "Warrant Assumption Agreement"), dated August 4, 2021, among GHV, AMPSA, and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. On August 4, 2021, following the consummation of the business combination contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, dated February 22, 2021, by and among GHV, AMPSA, Ardagh Group S.A., and Ardagh MP MergeCo Inc., each outstanding GHV Warrant became one Warrant pursuant to the Warrant Assumption Agreement.

This opinion is being furnished in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").

In that connection, we have reviewed originals or copies of the following:

- (a) The Registration Statement;
- (b) The Original Warrant Agreement, including the form of Warrant Certificate contained therein;
- (c) The Warrant Assumption Agreement; and

(d) Originals or copies of such other records of the Company, certificates of public officials and officers of the Company and agreements and other documents as we have deemed necessary as a basis for the opinions expressed below.

As used herein, the term "Opinion Documents" means the Original Warrant Agreement and the Warrant Assumption Agreement.

In our review of the Opinion Documents and other documents, we have assumed:

- (a) The genuineness of all signatures.
- (b) The authenticity of the originals of the documents submitted to us.
- (c) The conformity to authentic originals of any documents submitted to us as copies.
- (d) That each of the Opinion Documents is the legal, valid and binding obligation of each party thereto, other than the Company, enforceable against each such party in accordance with its terms.
- (e) That:
  - (i) The Company is an entity duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization.
  - (ii) The Company has power and authority (corporate or otherwise) to execute, deliver and perform, and has duly authorized, executed and delivered or will duly authorize, execute and deliver (except to the extent Generally Applicable Law (as defined below) is applicable to such execution and delivery), the Opinion Documents to which it is a party.
  - (iii) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Opinion Documents to which it is a party do not and will not:
    - (A) contravene its certificate or articles of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational documents; or
    - (B) except with respect to Generally Applicable Law, violate any law, rule or regulation applicable to it.
- (f) That the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Opinion Documents to which it is a party do not and will not result in any conflict with or breach of any agreement or document binding on it.
- (g) That, except with respect to Generally Applicable Law, no authorization, approval, consent or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any governmental authority or regulatory body or any other third party is required for the due execution, delivery or performance by the Company of any Opinion Document to which it is a party or, if any such authorization, approval, consent, action, notice or filing is required, it has been duly obtained, taken, given or made and is in full force and effect.

We have not independently established the validity of the foregoing assumptions.

"Generally Applicable Law" means the federal law of the United States of America, and the law of the State of New York (including in each case the rules or regulations promulgated thereunder or pursuant thereto), that a New York lawyer exercising customary professional diligence would reasonably be expected to recognize as being applicable to the Company, the Opinion Documents or the transactions governed by the Opinion Documents. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing definition of Generally Applicable Law, the term "Generally Applicable Law" does not include any law, rule or regulation that is applicable to the Company, the Opinion Documents or such

transactions solely because such law, rule or regulation is part of a regulatory regime applicable to any party to any of the Opinion Documents or any of its affiliates due to the specific assets or business of such party or such affiliate.

Based upon the foregoing and upon such other investigation as we have deemed necessary and subject to the qualifications set forth below, we are of the opinion that the Opinion Warrants are the valid and binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms.

Our opinions expressed above are subject to the following qualifications:

- (a) Our opinions are subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally (including without limitation all laws relating to fraudulent transfers) and possible judicial action giving effect to governmental actions or foreign laws affecting warrant holders' rights.
- (b) Our opinions are also subject to the effect of general principles of equity, including without limitation concepts of materiality, reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing (regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
- (c) Our opinions are limited to Generally Applicable Law and we do not express any opinion herein concerning any other law. Where matters of applicable law, other than Generally Applicable Law, are relevant to such opinions, we have without independent investigation on our part assumed the accuracy and, to the extent necessary in connection with the opinions contained herein, relied upon the opinion, dated the date hereof, furnished to you of Elvinger Hoss Prussen, *société anonyme*, Luxembourg counsel to the Company, and our opinions are subject to the same assumptions, qualifications and limitations with respect to matters of Luxembourg law expressed in each such opinion.
- (d) We express no opinion as to the validity, legally binding effect or enforceability of any provision in the Opinion Documents that requires or relates to adjustments to the conversion rate in an amount that a court would determine in the circumstances under applicable law to be commercially unreasonable or a penalty or forfeiture.

This opinion letter speaks only as of the date hereof. We expressly disclaim any responsibility to advise you of any development or circumstance of any kind, including any change of law or fact, that may occur after the date of this opinion letter and which might affect the opinions expressed herein.

We hereby consent to the reference to our firm under the heading "Legal Matters" in the prospectus forming part of the Registration Statement. We also hereby consent to the filing of this opinion with the Commission as an exhibit to the Registration Statement. In giving this consent, we do not thereby admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Act.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Allen Overy Shearman Sterling US LLP

RA/hs EK

### CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Registration Statement on Form F-3 of Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A. of our report dated February 27, 2025 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A. 's Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2024. We also consent to the reference to us under the heading "Experts" in such Registration Statement.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers Dublin, Ireland July 31, 2025

## **Calculation of Filing Fee Tables**

### F-3

# Ardagh Metal Packaging S.A.

Table 1: Newly Registered and Carry Forward Securities

	Security Type	Security Class Title	Fee Calculation or Carry Forward Rule	Amount Registered	Proposed Maximum Offering Price Per Unit	Aggregate Offering Price	Fee Rate	Amount of Registration Fee	Carry Forward Form Type	Carry Forward File Number	Carry Forward Initial Effective Date	Filing Fee Previously Paid in Connection with Unsold Securities to be Carried Forward
Newly Registered Securities												
Fees to be Paid												
Fees Previously Paid												
Carry Forward Securities												
Carry Forward Securities	1 Equity	Ordinary Shares, nominal value EUR 0.01 per share	415(a)(6)	16,749,984		\$ 192,624,816.00			F-1	333- 258749	08/11/2022	\$ 21,015.37
Carry Forward Securities		Ordinary Shares, nominal value EUR 0.01 per share	415(a)(6)	461,286,233		\$ 5,364,758,889.79			F-1	333- 258749	08/11/2022	\$ 585,295.20
Carry Forward Securities	3 Other	Warrants	415(a)(6)	3,545,210		\$ 0.00			F-1	333- 258749	08/11/2022	\$ 0.00
Total Offering Amounts:						\$ 5,557,383,705.79		\$ 0.00				
Total Fees Previously Paid: Total Fee Offsets: Net Fee Due:								\$ 0.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 0.00				

#### Offering Note

Note 1a. Consists of 16,749,984 ordinary shares of the Company, with a nominal value of EUR0.01 per share (the "Ordinary Shares") that may be issued upon exercise of warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, each exercisable for one Ordinary Share at an exercise price of \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustments (the "Warrants"). Pursuant to Rule 416(a), an indeterminable number of additional securities are also being registered to prevent dilution resulting from stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions.

Note 1b. For purposes of calculating the Maximum Aggregate Offering Price and Filing Fee Previously Paid in Connection with Unsold Securities to be Carried Forward, the proposed maximum offering price per unit and fee rate applicable on the date of the original filing of the registration statement as described in footnote 1c were used.

Note 1c. On August 12, 2021, the Company filed a registration statement on Form F-1 originally declared effective by the SEC on August 23, 2021 (File No. 333-258749) related to (i) 16,749,984 Ordinary Shares of the Company issuable upon the exercise of Warrants with a maximum aggregate offering price of \$192,624,816, (ii) the offer and resale by selling securityholders named therein of an aggregate of 579,357,270 Ordinary Shares of the Company with a maximum aggregate offering price of \$6,737,925,050.10 (estimated solely to calculate the registration fee in accordance with Rule 457(c) of the Securities Act on the basis of the average of the high and low sales prices of the Ordinary Shares as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on August 9, 2021) and (iii) the offer and resale by selling securityholders named therein of up to 6,250,000 Warrants (the maximum number of Warrants and Ordinary Shares of the registrant issuable upon exercise of the Warrants were simultaneously registered and no separate registration fee was required pursuant to Rule 457(g) under the Securities Act). Associated registration fees totaling \$756,123.63 were previously paid by the Company. On March 4, 2022, the Company filed a Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the F-1 Registration Statement, which was subsequently declared effective by the SEC on March 11, 2022. On August 8, 2022, the Company filed a Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to Form F-1 on Form F-3 in order to convert its registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-258749) into a registration statement on Form F-3, which registered 16,749,984 Ordinary Shares of the Company that may be issued upon exercise of Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, and the offer and sale from time to time by the selling securityholders named therein, or their permitted transferees, of up to 496,275,894 Ordinary Shares and 5,626,305 Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares, which was declared effective by the SEC on August 11, 2022. No additional registration fees were required in connection with su

as described above. Pursuant to Rule 415(a)(6) under the Securities Act, this Registration Statement carries forward (along with their associated filing fees) and registers (i) 16,749,984 Ordinary Shares that may be issued upon exercise of the Warrants; and (ii) 461,286,233 Ordinary Shares and 3,545,210 Warrants that may be offered and sold from time to time by the selling securityholders named herein, or their permitted transferees, in each case registered under the prior registration statement that remain unsold and continue to be entitled to registration.

Consists of 461,286,233 Ordinary Shares that may be offered and sold from time to time by the selling securityholders named herein, or their permitted transferees. Pursuant to Rule 416(a), an indeterminable number of additional securities are also being registered to prevent dilution resulting from stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions.

See Notes 1b and 1c.

Consists of 3,545,210 Warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares that may be offered and sold from time to time by the selling securityholders named herein, or their permitted transferees. Pursuant to Rule 416(a), an indeterminable number of additional securities are also being registered to prevent dilution resulting from stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions. The maximum number of Warrants and Ordinary Shares of the registrant issuable upon exercise of the Warrants were simultaneously registered and no separate registration fee was required pursuant to Rule 457(g) under the Securities Act.

See Notes 1b and 1c.